
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

May 3, 2023 
2:00 p.m. 

Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order Barbara Sowada 

 A.  Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Mission and Vision Taylor Jones 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Agenda (For Action)  Barbara Sowada 

III. Minutes (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

IV. Community Communication  Barbara Sowada 

V. Old Business Barbara Sowada 

A. Employee Policies (Remains under review/development, no request for action)  

1. Workplace Violence Prevention Policy  

2. Workplace Violence Prevention Program 

B. Board Meeting Guidelines (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

C. Employee Policies – Drug And Alcohol Free Workplace      Kandi Pendleton 

And Testing Policy With Substance Abuse Checklist (For Action) 

D. Sentinel Event Policy (For Action)    Kara Jackson, Director of Quality, Accreditation, Patient Safety & Risk 

VI. New Business (Review and Questions/Comments) Barbara Sowada 

A. Board Policy – CEO Evaluation (For Review) Barbara Sowada 

B. Oncology Suite Project Bid (For Ratification)   Irene Richardson 

C. Credentials Committee(For Action) Kerry Downs, Director of Medical Staff Services 

1. Proctors for Robot, Onboarding Packet 

2. General Surgery Privilege Form 

VII. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

VIII.  Committee Reports 

A. Quality Committee Taylor Jones 

B. Human Resources Committee  Kandi Pendleton 

C. Finance & Audit Committee Ed Tardoni  

1. Capital Expenditure Requests (For Action) 

2. Bad Debt (For Action) 

3. I.S. Report 

4. Finance & Audit Committee Meeting Information 

D. Building & Grounds Committee Marty Kelsey 

E. Foundation Board Taylor Jones 

F. Compliance Committee  Kandi Pendleton 

G. Governance Committee Barbara Sowada 

H. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Barbara Sowada 

I. Joint Conference Committee Barbara Sowada 

1/169



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

May 3, 2023 
2:00 p.m. 

Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

AGENDA 
 

 

IX. Contract Review Irene Richardson 

A. Consent Agenda (For Action) 

1. QLER Telepsychiatry Agreement 

X. Board Education (Cancelled for May) 

XI. Medical Staff Report Dr. Brianne Crofts, Medical Staff President  

XII. Good of the Order           Barbara Sowada 

XIII. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix)) Barbara Sowada 

XIV. Action Following Executive Session Barbara Sowada 

XV. Adjourn Barbara Sowada 

2/169



OUR MISSIONOUR MISSION  

Compassionate care for 

every life we touch. 

OUR VISIONOUR VISION  

To be our community’s trusted 

healthcare leader. 

OUR VALUESOUR VALUES  

Be Kind 

Be Respectful 

Be Accountable 

Work Collaboratively 

Embrace Excellence 

 

OUR STRATEGIESOUR STRATEGIES  

Patient Experience 

Quality & Safety 

Workplace Experience 

Growth, Opportunity & Community 

Financial Stewardship 

3/169



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

April 5, 2023 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session via 

Zoom on April 5, 2023, at 2:00 p.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. Jones for being willing to fill in for her in conducting the meeting. When 

it was changed to a Zoom meeting, she said she would be able to conduct. Dr. Sowada welcomed 

everyone and called the meeting to order. 

 

Dr. Sowada requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees were 

present: Mr. Taylor Jones, Mr. Marty Kelsey, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Dr. Barbara Sowada, and Mr. 

Ed Tardoni.  

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Brianne 

Crofts, Medical Staff President; Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel; and Mr. Robb Slaughter, 

County Commissioner Liaison.  

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Dr. Sowada led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Our Mission and Vision 

 

Mr. Kelsey read aloud the mission and vision statements.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson reviewed the recent report of an incident at Rock Springs High School which she 

said thankfully ended up being a false report. She said our hearts go out to students, teachers, staff, 

and responders. Ms. Richardson said there was an amazing response from MHSC staff with 

everyone immediately springing into action to take care of our community. She said we have a 

truly amazing staff, and she is grateful for their expertise, knowledge, skill, and compassion. Mr. 

Kelsey shared his experience of being at the high school the day of the incident. Ms. Pendleton 

shared nice comments she read about the Hospital on a social media site. Dr. Crofts said she was 

very grateful for the response. She said she is sure we all felt chaos and fear without showing it. 

She said we do band together as a community and hospital to take care of people. Dr. Crofts said 

we never want to have something like that happen, but we are ready when needed. Dr. Sowada 

said it truly was a community response and thanked the Hospital.  

 

  

4/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 5, 2023 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 

AGENDA 

 

The motion to amend the agenda to replace Mr. Jones’ name with Dr. Sowada’s to conduct due to 

the meeting being changed to online was made by Mr. Jones; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion 

carried.   

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The motion to approve the minutes of the March 1, 2023, regular meeting as presented was made 

by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.    

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

Commissioner Slaughter said he participated in an orientation provided by Ms. Tami Love, Chief 

Financial Officer, and Ms. Richardson the prior week. He said they spent several hours reviewing 

the Hospital. He gave kudos to the kitchen staff for the fantastic meal prepared for lunch. 

Commissioner Slaughter said he appreciates learning about the operation of the Hospital. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

Employee Policies 

 

Placeholder during continued review. 

 

Board Meeting Guidelines 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Governance Committee tabled the item for further review.  

 

Quality Committee Charter  

 

The motion to approve the Quality Committee Charter as presented was made by Mr. Jones; second 

by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Resolution for Reissuance 

 

Ms. Richardson reviewed the resolution request to convert the Hospital bonds from taxable to tax-

exempt. She introduced Mr. Rick Thompson from Hathaway and Kunz. Mr. Thompson explained 

the process and reasoning behind the change. He said following the Board’s approval of the 

resolution, we will request approval from the County Commissioners. Ms. Richardson introduced 

Mr. Nate Eckloff from Piper Sandler. Mr. Eckloff thanked the Hospital for the opportunity to 

represent and serve the Hospital. He thanked Mr. Thompson for his work and said he is looking 

forward to coming to a low-interest rate conclusion. Ms. Richardson said she recommends the 

Board approve the resolution. The motion to approve the resolution for reissuance of the bonds as 

presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Jones. Motion carried. Dr. Sowada thanked 

Mr. Thompson and Mr. Eckloff.  

5/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 5, 2023 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 

 

Employee Policies – Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace and Testing Policy with Substance 

Abuse Checklist 

 

Ms. Suzan Campbell, In House Counsel, reviewed the draft. She said we ran into a few issues with 

the previous policy, so we created an update to make it clear. Mr. Kelsey said he thought the policy 

was well done and appreciated seeing the mark-up version. He requested a change in some wording 

and Ms. Campbell said she would submit an update. 

 

Sentinel Event Policy 

 

Ms. Kara Jackson, Director of Quality, Accreditation, Patient Safety and Risk, reviewed the policy 

changes including wording to clarify and for consistency. She said the policy has been reviewed 

and approved by the Medical Executive Committee and Quality Committee. Mr. Kelsey said he 

thinks the policy was well done. He requested some formatting changes. Ms. Jackson said she will 

submit an update. 

 

Credentials Committee Privilege Forms 

 

Ms. Kerry Downs, Director of Medical Staff Services, said we are revising privilege forms. She 

said the forms presented have been approved by the Medical Executive Committee. The motion to 

approve the Hospitalist and Pediatric forms as presented was made by Mr. Jones; second by Mr. 

Tardoni. Motion carried.  

 

Siemens Executive Agreement 

 

Ms. Richardson reviewed the agreement and orientation memo in the packet. She reviewed the 

process resulting in her signature and requested ratification. Ms. Pendleton asked about a deadline 

on pricing. Ms. Richardson said there really was no deadline on time, just a commitment to the 

pricing. The motion to ratify the approval of the agreement as presented was made by Mr. Jones; 

second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried.  

 

June Board Meeting Date Change 

 

Dr. Sowada asked to move the date from Wednesday, June 7, to Tuesday, June 6, to assist Ms. 

Richardson in participating at the American Hospital Association (AHA) regional meeting 

scheduled at the same time. The Board agreed to the change. 

 

Board Recruitment 

 

Dr. Sowada announced Mr. Tardoni is coming to the end of his term. She said the County 

Commissioners have reviewed a letter from him saying he does not plan to request reappointment. 

Dr. Sowada said Mr. Tardoni will be greatly missed. She said we hope to recruit someone early to 

help with the transition. She encourages interested candidates to go to the County website to submit 

an application. Commissioner Slaughter said he found the appointment cannot be done until June. 

He said there could be an issue with receiving a recommendation for a temporary person to shadow 

for a period of time and then officially appointing if the Commissioners put someone in an interim 

6/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 5, 2023 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 

spot and then they don’t officially appoint. He said he doesn’t foresee that happening, but it could 

create an issue. Mr. Tardoni suggested inviting any applicants to shadow for one month. 

Commissioner Slaughter said he would forward applicant information to the Board for review. 

Ms. Pendleton mentioned the idea of using the Foundation Board as a feeder to the Board of 

Trustees.  

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 

 

Ms. Richardson provided an update on the strategic plan areas of patient experience, quality and 

safety, community and growth, workplace experience, and financial stewardship. She welcomed 

Ms. Julianne Forrester, FNP, to the Pediatrics Clinic. We held a nursing recruitment dinner and 

continue hosting physician recruitment visits. We had a great Doctors’ Day event. Ms. Richardson 

said she and Ms. Love continue working with the State on the Critical Access Hospital status 

process. She participated in an iProtean “huddle” the prior week. She attended the AHA regional 

meeting in Scottsdale and the next one is in Boise in June. Ms. Susan Doherty from the AHA 

invited Ms. Richardson to participate in a webinar. Ms. Richardson offered to forward the link to 

Trustees if interested in observing. She will attend the AHA annual meeting in Washington D.C. 

later in April. Ms. Richardson thanked staff for coming in during the recent terrible weather to care 

for our patients. She said the Board of County Commissioners graciously gave us $3M for 

matching funds for the lab expansion project in July and the Commissioners continue to support 

that decision. Ms. Richardson said we have requested the amount in one lump sum and explained 

the reasoning. We are bringing a budget resolution to the Commissioners. Ms. Richardson invited 

the Trustees to attend if available. Commissioner Slaughter said the prior Board of County 

Commissioners agreed to set aside the funds. He said Commissioner West is concerned of the 

public image of just issuing the full amount without a full paper trail. The resolution is to amend 

the budget for $3M. There will be discussion around how we disperse those funds. Commissioner 

Slaughter said we must choose the most fiscally responsible and prudent decision.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Quality Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said she chaired the meeting for Mr. Jones. She said the Hospital is good at recognizing 

the contributions from everyone. Dr. Sowada recognized Dr. Melinda Poyer, Chief Medical 

Officer, for bringing a physician and their contributions to quality to the Committee’s attention 

every month.  

 

Human Resources Committee 

 

Ms. Pendleton said there is good news about staffing and travelers in the committee meeting 

packet. 

 

Finance and Audit Committee 

 

Capital Expenditure Request: Mr. Tardoni said there was one request to present. He said the 

Building and Grounds Committee sent the request to the Finance and Audit Committee. The 

motion to approve FY23-43 for $252,551 for a budgeted lightning protection system was made by 

Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

7/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 5, 2023 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 

Bad Debt: The motion to approve the net potential bad debt of $1,446,671.51 as presented was 

made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried. Mr. Tardoni noted the reduction in 

Days in Accounts Receivable. He said progress is being made.  

 

I.S. Report: Mr. Tardoni said “hats off” to them for achieving one of their goals. 

 

Building and Grounds 

 

Mr. Kelsey said the information is in the meeting packet. He brought forward the multi-year plan 

and said it will help us prioritize. Mr. Kelsey said he thinks the plan is well done and will be a 

useful tool for us moving forward. 

 

Foundation 

 

Mr. Jones referenced the report in the packet provided by Ms. Tiffany Marshall, Executive Director 

of the Foundation, and noted the donor wall has been delivered. He said we have been working on 

this a long time and we are excited to host an unveiling for the public to see it. Mr. Jones said he 

would like to see another joint meeting of the two boards again in the future. He said it is just good 

to get together periodically.  

 

Compliance Committee 

 

Ms. Pendleton said the information is in the meeting packet. 

 

Governance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee did not meet. 

 

Joint Conference Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee has not met and there is nothing to report.  

 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

 

Mr. Juan Rodriguez, Dialysis Director, reviewed the Fresenius agreement signed by Ms. 

Richardson. Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. Rodriguez and his staff for all they do.   

 

EDUCATION 

 

Dr. Sowada said there were no assignments made for review and discussion this month.   

 

  

8/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 5, 2023 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

 

Dr. Crofts expressed appreciation from the Medical Staff for the wonderful Doctors’ Day Dinner. 

She thanked staff for their efforts Monday and said it is important to be aware of the great people 

working here. Dr. Crofts said the Medical Executive Committee is working on ways to improve 

access to specialties not currently available. She said the next General Medical Staff meeting will 

be held via Zoom on “May the 4th” with a prize awarded for the best back drop on the screen.  

 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 

Mr. Jones said he thinks it is appropriate the Board of Trustees gives a good thank you to the 

Foundation Board of Directors. They have been working hard to donate money, obtain grant 

money, raise money. He said the Foundation Board is a strong, intelligent group committed to the 

good of the Hospital. Mr. Jones expressed appreciation for the guidance of Dr. Joe Oliver for 

pushing them to  donate larger items. Mr. Jones feels it is appropriate to meet together one or two 

times a year. Dr. Sowada said we will work on that and we will make it happen.  

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session was made by Mr. Jones; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion 

carried.   

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

At 5:02 p.m., the motion to leave executive session and return to regular session was made by Mr. 

Jones; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Approval of Privileges 
 

The motion to approve the list of clinical privileges and granting appointments to the Medical Staff 

as reviewed in executive session was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Jones. Motion 

carried. 

Credentials Committee Recommendations to the Board of Trustees for Granting Clinical 

Privileges and Granting Appointment to the Medical Staff from March 7, 2023 

1. Initial Appointment to Non-Physician Provider Staff (1 year) 

 Julianne Forrester, Nurse Practitioner - Pediatrics 

2. Reappointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Jacques Denker, Orthopedic Surgery 

 Dr. Brytton Long, Occupational & Family Medicine 

 Dr. David Dansie, Family Medicine 

3. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Lillian Khor, Cardiovascular Disease (U of U) 

 Dr. Frank Rembert, Tele Radiology (Vrad) 

 Dr. Jason Mitchell, Tele Radiology (Vrad) 

 

9/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 5, 2023 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 7 

The motion to approve the provider contracts presented by the CEO and authorize the CEO to sign 

the contracts as discussed in executive session was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Jones. 

Motion carried. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 5:03 p.m.   

      

         

 

  ______________________________________  

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

 

      

         

    

10/169



DRAFT

Sttus Draft PolyStt ID 13568205

Approv N/A

Rvw Du N/A

Doumnt
Ar

Bor o
Trusts

BOT - Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting
Guidelines

Board of Trustees

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE:

TEXT:
I. An Prprton

A. T Bor Prsnt, t C Exutv Or (CEO), n t Exutv Assstnt
to t CEO mt t lst  wk or  rulr montly mtn o t Bor to
prpr t n or t mtn.

B. Typlly,  lss orml mtn s rqur or t prprton o n n or
spl mtns o t Bor.

II. Pul Ass to t Mtn Pkt

A. T mtn pkt ssot wt rulr montly mtns o t Bor soul
 puls on t Hosptl’s wst t lst two ys or t t o t
mtn.

Ts Gulns r ntn to prov  rmwork or t prprton, notton, n oprton o
mtns o t Mmorl Hosptl o Swtwtr County (Hosptl) Bor o Trusts (Bor)
onrnn tops not otrws rss n t Wyomn Sttuts, t By-Lws o t Bor, or n t
Bor Govrnn Commtt Crtr. Ts Gulns r prpr y t Govrnn Commtt o
t Bor n r pprov y t Bor. Ty my  mn t ny tm y t Bor.

BOT - Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting Guidelines. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/13568205/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 3

11/169



DRAFT

B. Wn possl, t mtn pkt or spl mtns o t Bor soul lso 
puls on t Hosptl’s wst n vn o t mtn. It s not tt 
mtn pkt my not  prpr or vry spl mtn.

III. Orntton Mmo Assot wt Nw n Ol Busnss An Itms

A. Prn  n tm unr t Ol n Nw Busnss ston o t mtn
n, st soul prpr  r “Orntton Mmo” sn to ornt Bor
mmrs onrnn t n tm.

B. To nsur onsstny, t Exutv Assstnt to t CEO soul vlop 
tmplt tt woul  us  tm so tt t mmo ormt s stnrz or
vry mtn n or  n tm.

C. T ollown ontnt or t Mmo must nlu:

1. Dt o t Bor Mtn

2. Top

3. I  poly or otr oumnt…s t  rvson or  nw poly/oumnt?

4. Br Snor Lrsp ommnts ( ny)

5. Bor Commtt ton ( ppll)

6. Is t n tm or rvw only or or Bor ton?

7. Ll Counsl Rvw…In-Hous Counsl or Bor Counsl

8. Snor Lrsp Rommnton

IV. Rvw n Approvl o Hosptl Pols & Prorm Doumnts

A. As  nrl prt, nw pols & prorm oumnts n rommn or
Bor pprovl n xstn pols & prorm oumnts n rommn or
mtrl or sustntv rvson soul  prsnt or “rvw only” t rst tm
ty r rout or t Bor or onsrton.

B. Ts prt lps nsur tt Bor mmrs v sunt tm to rvw t
proposls pror to votn n provs tm or qustons w my  pos y
Bor mmrs n/or otrs to  rss y st.

C. As  nrl prt, mnor, non-sustntv rvsons to xstn pols or
prorm oumnts my  vot upon t t rst mtn ty r rout or
t Bor.

D. As  nrl prt, nw or rvs Ml St orms, t. pprov y t
Ml Exutv Commtt (MEC) my  vot upon t rst tm ty r
rout or t Bor.

V. Bor Commtt Rports

A. Bor Commtt rports to t Bor my  prsnt y t Commtt Cr
tr n wrtn or vrlly t t srton o t Commtt Cr.

VI. Exutv Ssson

A. Invttons to ttn Exutv Sssons o t Bor r xtn y t Bor

BOT - Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting Guidelines. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/13568205/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 3

12/169



DRAFT
Approvl Snturs

Step Description Approver Date

Hstory

Prsnt.

B. T CEO soul lwys  n ttnn unlss xus or  pro o tm y t
Bor Prsnt wn s/r rulr prormn vluton s n onut or
or otr rsons ssot wt s/r prormn or ompnston.

C. T Exutv Assstnt to t CEO s typlly n ttnn to oumnt t
susson. I snt, n Atn Exutv Assstnt my  prsnt to oumnt t
susson or, ltrntvly,  tp rorn my  susttut.

Board of Trustees Approval:

BOT - Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting Guidelines. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/13568205/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 3

13/169



COPY

Status Active PolicyStat ID 4960519 

Approved 05/2019 

Review Due 05/2022 

Document 
Area 

Employee 
Policies 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE 
WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse 

Checklist 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

The objective of this policy is to provide a workplace and environment that is free from the effects of 
substance abuse. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (the "Hospital") recognizes that alcohol and 
drug abuse adversely affects an employee's job performance and the kind of work he/she can perform 
and may affect opportunities for continued employment. The Hospital does not intend to intrude upon 
the private lives of its employees. The Hospital is concerned, however, about the use of alcohol and/or 
drugs if it interferes with an employee's job performance, adversely affects the job performance of other 
employees, endangers the employee or other employees or is detrimental to the Hospital's best interests 
and the interests of its patients and the general public. Therefore, no employee shall have a detectable 
presence of alcohol or any controlled substance (as defined by W. S. 35-7-1001 et seq.) in his/her body 
at Hospital facilities or whenever performing duties for the Hospital. 

SCOPE 

MHSC is a drug and alcohol free workplace. As such, MHSC prohibits the use of non-prescribed drugs or 
alcohol during work hours. If an employee comes to work under the influence of drugs or alcohol or uses 
drugs or alcohol during work time, the employee will be subject to drug or alcohol testing as outlined in 
this policy. 

This policy applies to all employees including employed physicians, physicians with hospital privileges, 
managers, administrators, and part-time employees and traveling and/or contract employees. The policy 
is applicable at Hospitalin all MHSC facilities orand wherever the HospitalMHSC employees are 
performing duties for the Hospital. It is also applicable while operating any Hospitalhospital vehicle or 
equipment at any time, or any personal, rental or other vehicle while on Hospital business. This policy will 
be under the purview of the Human Resources Department. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 9

14/169



COPY

I. "Work Related Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse" is defined as the use of mood-altering drugs, 
including all forms of alcohol, narcotics, depressants, stimulants, hallucinogens, marijuana, or 
the use of prescription drugs when resulting behavior or appearance adversely affects work 
performance or the operation of any the Hospital vehicle or equipment at any time, or any 
personal, rental or other vehicle while on Hospital business. 

II. "Adversely Affect Work Performance" and "Under the Influence" shall be determined to be 
present if the employee is perceptively impaired, has impaired alertness, coordination, 
reactions, responses, or efforts; if the employee's condition threatens the safety of him/herself 
or others. It includes operation of any the Hospital vehicle or equipment at any time, or use of 
any personal, rental or other vehicle while on Hospital business. 

III. "Controlled Substances" means those substances whose distribution is controlled by 
regulation or statute, including but not limited to narcotics, depressants, stimulants, 
hallucinogens, and cannabis. 

IV. "Mood-Altering" or "Alter" means changed behavior which may limit an employee's ability to 
safely and efficiently perform job duties or poses a threat to the safety of the employee or 
others. 

I. No employee shall report to or perform Hospital work under the influence of alcohol, 
marijuana, controlled substances or other drugs, which affect his/her alertness, coordination, 
reaction, response, judgment, decision-making or safety. The identified thresholds are: 
Amphetamine-1000 (NG/ML), Barbiturates-300 (NG/ML), Benzodiazepines-300 (NG/ML), 
Cocaine Metabolites-300 (NG/ML), Marijuana Metabolites-50 (NG/ML), Methadone-300 (NG/
ML), Opiates-300 (NG/ML), Oxycodones-100 (NG/ML), Phencyclidine-25 (NG/ML), 
Propoxyphene-300 (NG/ML), Methamphetamine-300 (NG/ML), Alcohol-50 (MG/DL), or other 
illicit drugs or controlled substances including those controlled substances as defined by the 

It is the Hospital's policy to follow all applicable laws and regulations regarding drug and alcohol testing 
and the other matters addressed here. This written policy is intended to summarize how those laws and 
regulations apply to the Hospital and its employees. The applicable laws and regulations establish the 
precise obligations of the Hospital, as they evolve from time to time, and the Hospital reserves the right 
to change this policy at any time. 

DEFINITIONS 

NON-DISCRIMINATION 

ADA Compliance 

Consistent with itsMHSC's general policy against discrimination, the Hospital recognizes that disabled 
individuals should be protected from discriminatory treatment. Under the Americans with Disabilities 
Act, a disabled person is someone who has a medical or psychological condition that materially impairs 
a major life activity. However, also in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, disability does 
not include any condition resulting from alcohol or other drug abuse which prevents a person from 
performing essential functions of the job or which creates a direct threat to property or the safety of 
individuals. 

PROHIBITIONS 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 9

15/169



COPY

Wyoming Controlled Substances Act, Wyo. Stat. § 35-7-1001 et seq., at threshold levels 
established by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). 

II. No employee shall operate, use, or drive any equipment, machinery, or vehicle of the Hospital, 
or operate, use or drive a personal, rental or other vehicle on Hospital business, while under the 
influence of alcohol, marijuana, controlled substances or other mood-altering drugs. The 
identified thresholds are: Amphetamine-1000 (NG/ML), Barbiturates-300 (NG/ML), 
Benzodiazepines-300 (NG/ML), Cocaine Metabolites-300 (NG/ML), Marijuana Metabolites-50 
(NG/ML), Methadone-300 (NG/ML), Opiates-300 (NG/ML), Oxycodones-100 (NG/ML), 
Phencyclidine-25 (NG/ML), Propoxyphene-300 (NG/ML), Methamphetamine-300, Alcohol-50 
(MG/DL), or other illicit drugs or controlled substances including those controlled substances 
as defined by the Wyoming Controlled Substances Act, Wyo. Stat. § 35-7-1001 et seq., at 
threshold levels established by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). Such employee is 
under an affirmative duty to notify his/her administrator/supervisor immediately that he/she is 
not in an appropriate mental or physical condition to operate, use, or drive the equipment, 
whether or not belonging to the Hospital. 

III. No employee shall unlawfully manufacture, distribute, dispense, possess, transfer, or use 
alcohol or a controlled substance in the workplace or wherever performing duties for the 
Hospital. 

IV. Engaging in off-duty sale, purchase, transfer, use or possession of illegal drugs or controlled 
substances may have a negative effect on an employee's ability to perform his/her work for 
the Hospital. In such circumstances, the employee is subject to discipline, up to and including 
discharge. In the event that the employee is convicted of a violation of a criminal drug statute, 
the employee must notify the Hospital no later than five days after such conviction. 

V. The Hospital may notify the appropriate law enforcement agency when it believes that an 
employee may have illegal drugs in his/her possession or is involved in other illegal conduct at 
Hospital facilities or whenever performing duties for the Hospital. 

VI. Employees are prohibited from consuming alcoholic beverages during lunch periods, dinner 
periods, or breaks when returning immediately thereafter to perform work on behalf of the 
Hospital. It is each employee's responsibility to act in a professional and responsible manner. 
Alcohol consumption at a Hospital-hosted event or sponsored activities should be limited and 
carefully controlled. 

VII. Nothing in these regulations is intended to preclude an employee from reporting his/her 
administrator/supervisor to the Director of Human Resources because of suspected use of 
alcohol and/or drugs. No employee may be disciplined or receive adverse treatment as a result 
of having made such a report in good faith. 

VIII. If an employee is prescribed medication by a doctor, either over-the-county or prescription 
medication, and taking that medication presents a direct threat to the health or safety of the 
employee or other individuals, the employee must report this fact to his or her supervisor. The 
employee may discuss this issue with the Education/Infection Control/Employee Health 
Coordinator before commencing work. Any medial issues discussed will be kept confidential. 
The Hospital retains the right to change an employee's job assignment or take other action 
that is necessary in the Hospital's discretion which the employee is undergoing such 
treatment. 

IX. If an employee has a substance-abuse problem with drugs and/or alcohol and wishes to 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 9

16/169



COPY

undertake rehabilitation, the employee may make a request to the Human Resources Director 
to participate in a rehabilitation program. The Hospital may grant the employee unpaid leave of 
absence for this purpose, where the employee seeks help before the problem adversely affects 
the employee's work performance or results in a violation of this policy. 

I. In order to carry out the Hospital's commitment to an alcohol and drug-free workplace, the 
Hospital reserves the right to require employees to submit to testing in accordance with 
applicable law. 

II. Who may be Subject to Testing? 

A. Volunteer Testing. The Hospital shall permit any employee to undergo testing on a 
voluntary basis under this policy. No employee who voluntarily consents to testing 
prior to any observed or suspected violation of this policy shall be discharged as a 
result of a positive drug or alcohol test so long as the employee agrees to participate 
in an approved rehabilitation program. 

B. Random Testing. The Hospital may require employees in safety-sensitive positions 
to undergo testing on a random selection basis. 

C. Reasonable Suspicion Testing. The Hospital may require an employee to be tested 
when the Hospital reasonably suspects that the employee is impaired while on 
Hospital property and/or performing Hospital duties, if the employee has sustained 
personal injury, caused another individual to sustain personal injury, or caused 
property damage in a work-related accident, or has violated the Hospital's policy on a 
drug-free workplace 

1. In order for "reasonable suspicion" to exist, there must be a basis for 
forming a belief that testing is justified based on specific 
contemporaneous, articulable, observations concerning the appearance, 
behavior, speech or body odors of the employee. The indications of 
impairment are outlined in ATTACHMENT A, Determining a Reasonable 
Suspicion of Impairment. Administrators/supervisors shall participate in a 
training program to identify the effects and consequences of drug/alcohol 
abuse on personal health, safety, and work environment and the 
manifestations and behavioral causes that may indicate drug/alcohol use 
or abuse. 

2. Administrators/supervisors must submit their recommendations for 

As MHSC is a drug and alcohol free workplace, the Hospital may notify the appropriate law enforcement 
agency when it believes that an employee may have illegal drugs in his/her possession or is involved in 
other illegal conduct involving drugs at MHSC facilities. 

Employees who wish to undertake rehabilitation for drug or alcohol abuse may make a request to the 
Human Resources Director to participate in a rehabilitation program (see MHSC's EAP). The Hospital 
may grant the employee an unpaid leave of absence for this purpose if the employee seeks help before 
the drug or alcohol abuse adversely affects the employee's work performance or before the employee 
tests positive under this or any other applicable testing policy. An "introductory period" employee is not 
eligible for unpaid leave to attend a rehabilitation program. 

ALCOHOL AND DRUG TESTING POLICY 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 9

17/169



COPY

reasonable suspicion drug/alcohol testing to the Human Resources 
Director for approval. A written record shall be prepared and maintained 
setting forth the behavior and observations for the reasonable suspicion 
leading to the testing. Such records shall be made and signed by an 
administrator/supervisor who made the observations within 24 hours of 
the observed behavior. 

3. Only the Human Resources Director may authorize reasonable suspicion 
drug/alcohol testing. The Human Resources Director shall notify the 
employee of the recommendation for testing and shall allow the employee 
to appear and offer such evidence as the employee desires prior to the 
Human Resources Director acting upon any recommendation for testing. 

D. Treatment Program Testing. The Hospital may require an employee to be tested 
when the employee is participating in an alcohol or chemical dependency treatment 
or rehabilitation program. The employee may be required to undergo testing without 
advance notice during the evaluation or treatment period and for up to two years 
following the completion of a treatment program. 

III. Conducting the Testing. 

A. Consent. All persons to be tested will be required to complete and sign a consent 
form. Substance abuse testing will not be performed unless a signed consent is in 
the possession of the Hospital. Each form must also be witnessed. Employees who 
are using prescribed drugs must declare such prescribed drug use prior to any drug 
test. Excluded from these regulations are prescribed drugs only when used in the 
manner, combination, and quantity intended by the prescribing physician. 

B. Refusal to Participate. An employee has the right to refuse testing. However, a 
refusal of testing will be treated as a failure to comply with the Hospital policy and 
may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. 

C. The Laboratory. The laboratory selected to perform testing must be certified by the 
National Institute on Drug Abuse (NlDA), the College of American Pathologists 
(CAP), or similar certifying agency. Laboratory facilities shall comply with applicable 
provisions of any state licenser's requirement. The laboratory shall maintain and 
make available for at least two years, documentation of all aspects of the testing 
process. The tests conducted shall be an alcohol breath test and a urine sample that 
shall be analyzed for marijuana (THC metabolite), cocaine, amphetamines, opiates 
(including heroin), and phencyclidine (PCP) among others. 
The Hospital will designate a collection site that shall have all necessary personnel, 
materials, equipment, facilities, and supervision to provide for the collection, security, 
temporary storage, and shipping or transportation of urine specimens to a certified 
drug-testing laboratory. An independent medical or certified testing facility shall 
collect the samples and conduct all tests. A tamper-proof sealing system will be 
used for specimen bottles and shipping containers including use of one or more 
preprinted labels and seals. 
The collection site personnel will arrange to ship the collected specimen to the drug-
testing laboratory in accordance with custody and control procedures. If the 
employee refuses to cooperate with the collection process (e.g., refusal to provide a 
complete specimen, complete paperwork, initial specimen), the collection site 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 9

18/169



COPY

person shall inform the Director of Human Resources and shall document the 
noncooperation on the custody and control form. The collection site will provide the 
results of the drug/alcohol testing to the Hospital and the employee. Any positive 
initial test will be confirmed by a gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) 
test. 

D. Test Results. 

1. Negative Tests [passed tests). Negative test results on an initial test will 
be provided in writing to the Hospital within a reasonable period. An 
applicant or employee will receive written notification of the test result 
within five working days after the Hospital is notified of such result 

2. Positive Tests [failed tests]. A confirmatory test will be performed on all 
samples that result in a positive test result on an initial test. Positive test 
results will be provided in writing to the Hospital within a reasonable 
period after a confirmatory test. An applicant or employee will receive 
written notification of a confirmatory test result within five working days 
after the Hospital is notified of such result. In the case of 
a positive test result on a confirmatory test, the tested individual may, 
within three working days after notice of the test result, explain the result 
or request a confirmatory retest of the original sample at the individual's 
own expense. If a confirmatory retest is requested, the individual must 
notify the Hospital in writing, within five working days after notice of the 
confirmatory test result, of his or her intention to obtain a retest 

3. Right to Test Result. An employee has the right to request and receive 
from the Hospital a copy of the test result report on any drug or alcohol 
test. 

IV. Costs. All costs related to alcohol and drug testing will be paid by the Hospital, with the 
exception of confirmatory retests, which must be paid for by the employee requesting the 
retest. 

V. Disciplinary Action in Response to a Positive Test Result. 

A. Interim Disciplinary Action: The Hospital reserves the right to reassign an employee 
with a positive test to another position at the same rate of pay or to temporarily 
suspend the employee (and prohibit further use of any Hospital vehicles or 
equipment) pending the outcome of the confirmatory test (and, if requested, the 
confirmatory retest) if the Hospital believes that it is reasonably necessary to do so 
to protect the health and safety of the employee, co-workers, patients, or the public. 

B. First Failed Test: The Hospital may discipline an employee up to and including 
termination of employment if the employee tests positive on a confirmatory test. 
Any employee, not terminated, who has a positive confirmatory test will be required 
to participate in a drug or alcohol treatment program. The Hospital may require the 
employee to submit to testing as described above for treatment programs. Failure to 
seek and receive assistance or failure to abide by the terms and conditions or 
prescribed treatment will be grounds for termination. Participation in the Employee 
Assistance Program shall be taken into account in considering appropriate 
disciplinary action. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 9

19/169



COPY

The Hospital may terminate an employee for whom a positive confirmatory test is 
the first such result where (1) the employee is given an opportunity to participate in, 
at the employee's expense or pursuant to coverage under an employee's benefit plan, 
a drug or alcohol counseling or rehabilitation program; and (2) the employee has 
either refused to participate in a drug or alcohol counseling or rehabilitation program 
or has failed to successfully complete it. The type of counseling or rehabilitation 
program in which an employee participates will be determined by the Hospital after 
consultation with a certified chemical use counselor or physician trained in the 
diagnosis and treatment of chemical dependency. 

C. Second Failed Test: The Hospital may discipline an employee, including termination 
of employment, if an employee tests positive on a confirmatory test and has 
previously had a positive confirmatory test result. This action may be taken without 
first referring the employee to a chemical dependency counseling or rehabilitation 
program. 

VI. Due Process 
Any disputes by the employee of the Hospital regarding the enforcement of these regulations 
shall be resolved in accordance with the grievance procedure set forth in appropriate Hospital 
Policies. 
If an employee is required to undergo drug/alcohol testing under any provisions of these 
regulations, and the test shows the employee is not in violation, the outcome of the test shall 
be communicated to any person or entity requested by the employee. 
Nothing herein shall be construed as delaying the referral of an employee for testing in 
accordance with these regulations set forth above. 

VII. Privacy of Test Results. 

A. The Human Resources Director shall ensure that all records related to the Admin- 
istration and results of the drug/alcohol testing program for its employees remain 
private and confidential, except such results may be used in any disciplinary 
proceeding arising out of the enforcement of this policy. Test results and other 
information acquired as a result of the testing program will not be disclosed by the 
Hospital or the testing laboratory to non-administrative employees or to third party 
individuals, government agencies, or private organizations without written consent 
of the employee being tested, or court or similar order. In the event that the Hospital 
receives an order of a court or a subpoena seeking information disclosed or 
obtained pursuant to the Hospital's drug and alcohol policy, unless prohibited by law, 
or an order of the court issuing the subpoena, the Hospital shall promptly notify the 
employee. The Hospital shall include in its response to any such order or request a 
written notice indicating that this policy requires that the information be treated as 
confidential. The test results and other records related to this policy shall be 
maintained confidentially in a file separated from the employee's personnel file. Any 
employee who inappropriately divulges information about another employee's drug- 
testing or other related information shall be subject to disciplinary actions. All 
information collected concerning an employee or disclosed by an employee 
pursuant to the Hospital's drug and alcohol testing/Employee Assistance Program 
and accompanying regulations is obtained exclusively for purposes of employment. 

B. Evidence of a positive test result on a confirmatory test, however, may be used in any 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 7 of 9

20/169



COPY

proceeding pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, an administrative hearing, 
or a judicial proceeding, provided the information is relevant to the hearing or 
proceeding. Such evidence may also be disclosed to any federal agency or other unit 
of the United States government as required under federal law, regulation, or order. 
Evidence of a positive test result on a confirmatory test may also be disclosed to a 
substance abuse treatment facility or the employee support team for the purpose of 
evaluation or treatment. 

C. The Hospital will provide an employee with access to information in the employee's 
file relating to positive test result reports and other information acquired in the 
testing process as well as conclusions drawn from or actions taken based upon 
such information. 

All current and prospective employees are subject to this drug testing policy. Prospective employee’s will 
be asked to submit to a test once a conditional offer of employment has been extended and accepted. 
An offer of employment by MHSC is conditioned on the prospective employee testing negative for illegal 
substances. MHSC's policy is intended to comply with all state and federal laws governing drug testing 
and is designed to safeguard employee privacy rights to the fullest extent of the law. 

If there is reasonable cause to suspect that an employee is working while under the influence of drugs or 
alcohol, the employee will be suspended with pay until the results of a drug and alcohol test are made 
available to the HR Department by the testing laboratory. Whenever an employee is operating machinery 
at the Hospital or driving a Hospital vehicle and is involved in an accident the employee will be 
suspended with pay until the results of a drug and alcohol test are made available to the HR Department 
by the testing laboratory. Where drug or alcohol testing is part of a routine physical there will be no 
adverse employment action or suspension taken until the test results are returned and reviewed by the HR 
department. 

Before being asked to submit to a drug test, the employee will receive written notice of the request or 
requirements. The employee must also sign a testing authorization and acknowledgement form 
confirming that he or she is aware of this policy and the employee’s rights. Any drug testing required or 
requested by MHSC will be conducted by a laboratory licensed by the state. All expenses related to the 
test will be incurred by the hospital. 

If the employee receives notice that the employee's test results were confirmed positive, the employee 
will be given the opportunity to explain the positive result to HR. In addition, the employee may have the 
same sample retested at a laboratory of the employee's choice as a confirmatory test. 

The Hospital may discipline an employee up to and including termination of employment if the employee 
tests positive on the first test (if the positive test is not requested by the employee to be sent for a 
confirmatory test) or upon a positive confirmatory test. An employee who has a positive confirmatory 
test, but is not terminated, will be required to participate in and complete a drug or alcohol treatment 
program. Refer to the Employee Assistance Plan (EAP). 

All testing results will remain confidential and will be maintained in a separate employee file. Employee 
must sign a consent form prior to the release of results to a third party. Test results may be used in 
arbitration, administrative hearings and court cases arising as a result of the employee's drug testing. 
Results will be sent to federal agencies as required by federal law. If the employee is to be referred to a 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 8 of 9

21/169



COPYAttachments 

SUBSTANCE ABUSE POLICY - Attachment A.pdf 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Board of Trustees Kristy Nielson: Chief Nursing 
Officer 

05/2019 

Irene Richardson: CEO 05/2019 

HR Committee Amber Fisk: HR Director 04/2019 

Amber Fisk: HR Director 04/2019 

Suzan Campbell: In House 
Legal Counsel 

03/2019 

I. In order to carry out the Hospital's commitment to be an alcohol and drug-free workplace, the 
Hospital reserves the right to conduct: 

A. Reasonable Cause Drug and Alcohol Testing Any employee who is reasonably 
suspected of using alcohol or illegal drugs or of abusing controlled substances in 
the workplace or of performing official duties while under the influence of alcohol, 
illegal drugs, or abused controlled substances will be required to undergo an alcohol 
and/or drug test. "Reasonable cause" exists when an employee exhibits patterns of 
behavior that suggest impairment from drug or alcohol use. (See Attachment A) 

B. Post-Accident Testing Whenever an employee is operating machinery at the 
Hospital or driving a Hospital vehicle and is involved in an accident he/she will be 
required to submit to a drug test. Test will be performed as soon as possible after 
the accident. 

APPROVED: MHSC Board of Trustees 3/6/2019 

treatment facility for evaluation, the employee's test results will also be made available to the employee's 
counselor at the facility. 

Refusal to Participate. An employee has the right to refuse testing. However, a refusal of testing will be 
treated as a failure to comply with the Hospital policy and will result in disciplinary action up to and 
including termination of employment. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse

Checklist. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/4960519/. Copyright © 2023

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 9 of 9

22/169



SUBSTANCE ABUSE POLICY 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

 

Determining a Reasonable Suspicion of Impairment 

 

 

 

The indicators listed below are "warning signs" of drug and/or alcohol abuse and may be 

observed by supervisors:  

 

Moods:  

 Depressed  

 Anxious  

 Irritable  

 Suspicious  

 Complains about others  

 Emotional unsteadiness (e.g., outbursts of crying)  

 Mood changes after lunch or break  

 

Actions:  

 Withdrawn or improperly talkative  

 Spends excessive amount of time on the telephone  

 Argumentative  

 Has exaggerated sense of self-importance  

 Displays violent behavior  

 Avoids talking with supervisor regarding work issues  

 

Absenteeism:  

 Acceleration of absenteeism and tardiness, especially Mondays, Friday, before and after 

holidays  

 Frequent unreported absences, later explained as "emergencies"  

 Unusually high incidence of colds, flus, upset stomach, headaches  

 Frequent use of unscheduled vacation time  

 Leaving work area more than necessary (e.g., frequent trips to water fountain and 

bathroom)  

 Unexplained disappearance from the job with difficulty in locating employee  

 Requesting to leave work early for various reasons  

 

Accidents:  

 Taking of needless risks  

 Disregard for safety of others  

 Higher than average accident rate on and off the job  

 

 

 

23/169



  

Work Patterns:  

 Inconsistent in quality of work  

 High and low periods of productivity  

 Poor judgment, more mistakes than usual and general carelessness  

 Lapses in concentration 

 Difficulty in remembering own mistakes  

 Using more time to complete work/missing deadlines  

 Increased difficulty in handling complex situations  

 

Relationship to Others on the Job:  

 Overreaction to real or imagined criticism (paranoid)  

 Avoiding and withdrawing from peers  

 Complaints from co-workers  

 Borrowing money from fellow employees  

 Persistent job transfer requests  

 Complaints of problems at home such as separation, divorce and child discipline 

problems  

 

Patterns of any of the above conduct or combinations of conduct may occur but must be 

accompanied by the below indicators of impairment in order to establish "reasonable cause." 

 

OBSERVING AND DOCUMENTING CURRENT INDICATORS  

 

Please check all indicators listed below that are currently present:  

 

___Constricted pupils   ___Drowsiness  

___Dilated pupils   ___Odor of alcohol  

___Scratching    ___Nasal secretion  

___Red or watering eyes   ___Dizziness  

___Involuntary eye movements  ___Loss of Muscular Coordination 

___Unconsciousness   ___Slurred speech 

___Excessively active   ___Inability to verbalize  

___Nausea or vomiting   ___Irritable  

___Flushed skin    ___Argumentative  

___Sweating    ___Difficulty concentrating  

___Twitching    ___Bizarre behavior  

___Violent behavior   ___Needle marks  

___Possession of paraphernalia (such as syringe, bent spoon, metal bottle cap, medicine dropper, 

glassine bag, paint can, glue        tube, nitrite bulb, or aerosol can)  

___Possession of substance that appears to possibly be a drug or alcohol  

___Other  

 

 

 

 

 

 

24/169



  

DETERMINING REASONABLE CAUSE  

 

If you are able to document one or more of the indicators above, ask yourself these questions to 

establish reasonable cause:  

 

 Y   N  

[  ]        [  ] Has some form of impairment been shown in the employee's appearance, actions or     

       work performance?  

 

[  ]        [  ] Does this impairment result from the possible use of drugs or alcohol?  

 

[  ]        [  ] Are the facts reliable? Did you witness the situation personally, or are you sure that    

                  the witness(es) are reliable and have provided firsthand information?  

 

[  ]        [  ] Are the facts capable of documentation?  

 

[  ]        [  ] Is the impairment current, today, now?  

 

 

Do NOT proceed with reasonable cause testing unless all the above questions are answered with 

a YES.  

 

TAKING ACTION  

 

___Reasonable cause established  

___Reasonable cause NOT established  

 

 

____________________________________ _________________________ 

Prepared by       Date    

 

 

 

____________________________________ _________________________ 

Administrator’s/Supervisor’s Signature   Date 

 

25/169



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 12304375 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

General - 
Housewide 

Reg. 
Standards 

TJC 
LD.03.09.01,
TJC 
MM.05.01.01,
TJC 
RI.01.02.01, 
EP 21 

Sentinel Event Policy 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

Definitions 

I. Sentinel Event - A patient safety event (not primarily related to the natural course of a patient’s 
illness or underlying condition) that reaches a patient and results in death, severe harm 
(regardless of duration of harm), or permanent harm (regardless of severity of harm). Please 
refer to attached document, 2022 The Joint Commission (TJC) Sentinel Event Policy. 

II. Occurrence Report - An occurrence is broadly defined as any happening (occurrence) that is 
not consistent with routine operation of the facility.  Included in this definition are accidents 
(with or without injury) involving patients, visitors, and employees.  Also included are violations 
of established procedures, disturbances, or other unfavorable situations that may damage the 
facility's public reputation or image.  Occurrences include good catches. 

III. Root Cause Analysis (RCA) - A comprehensive systemic evaluation of an occurrence in an 
attempt to identify underlying causes or effects of a serious safety event. An RCA can also be 
described as an interdisciplinary team analysis to definitively determine the conditions that 
caused an event, with the understanding that if the undesirable condition were eliminated, 
changed, or controlled, the event could have been prevented. 

IV. Action plan - The product of a Root Cause Analysis that identifies the tactics and strategies 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County's vision is to be the community's trusted health care provider. 
In line with our mission, vision and values we are committed to providing safe, high-quality care. To that 
end we must work to reduce the occurrence of serious safety events and Sentinel Events in our facility. 
When a Sentinel Event occurs, it is our responsibility to carry out an expeditious and thorough 
investigation to reduce or eradicate future harm to patients, staff, and facility. 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 5

26/169



DRAFT

that an organization plans to implement to reduce the risk of similar events occurring in the 
future. 

A. An appropriate action plan includes: 

1. Identification of changes that can be implemented to reduce risk, or 
formulates a rationale for not undertaking such changes. 

2. The plan should address responsibility for implementation, oversight, pilot 
testing if appropriate, time lines and methods for measuring and 
monitoring the effectiveness of the recommended actions. 

V. Never Event - According to the National Quality Forum (NQF), “never events” are "non 
reimbursable errors in medical care that are clearly identifiable, preventable, and serious in 
their consequences for patients, and that indicate a real problem in the safety and credibility of 
a health care facility." Please see list of Never Events from the National Quality Forum List of 
Serious Reportable Events for further information. 

Reporting of Suspected Sentinel Events 

I. Identification of a Sentinel Event 

A. When a safety event, or occurrence takes place, the first course of action is to 
stabilize and/or monitor the patient or environment. 

B. Following the stabilization, an individual with direct knowledge of the occurrence will 
complete an Occurrence Report. Additionally, any potential Sentinel Event is to be 
reported immediately to the Quality/Risk Department and/or Administrator On Call 
(AOC). 

C. If necessary, immediate remediation to life threatening processes or risks will 
occur.  

D. Per the Disclosure of Adverse Medical Event policy, the Quality/Risk Department, in 
conjunction with the attending physician, and legal counsel will determine if 
disclosure of the event to patient and family is appropriate. 

E. Upon notification, Quality/Risk Department will direct an initial investigation into the 
occurrence.  Upon completion of initial investigation, Quality/Risk Department will 
present findings to determine if the occurrence is a Sentinel Event. If the event is 
determined not to be sentinel in nature, it will be addressed in accordance with the 
established Occurrence Report procedure. 

II. Notification/Communication of Sentinel Events 

A. Upon determination that a Sentinel Event has occurred, the Quality/Risk Department 
will notify key representatives of the Hospital's leadership team. 

B. The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) will be responsible for notifying the Board 
President of the Sentinel Event. 

III. External Reporting of Sentinel Events 

A. Our Hospital may report sentinel events to The Joint Commission for review. 

B. The CEO or his/her designee will be responsible for correspondence with outside 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 5

27/169



DRAFT

agencies inquiring about sentinel, or other serious safety events. The decision to 
report a potential Sentinel Event to The Joint Commission for review will be made 
with prior knowledge of the CEO. 

IV. Formation of a Sentinel Event Response Team 

A. An ad hoc team will be formed to respond to each Sentinel Event. However, each 
team will always include: 

1. Appropriate representatives of administration and quality/risk 

2. Those individuals directly involved in the event 

B. The purpose of the team will be to conduct a root cause analysis and determine 
corrective actions to undertake in response to finding and/or identified opportunities 
for improvement. 

V. Conducting a Root Cause Analysis 

A. The team is to undertake a thorough and credible Root Cause Analysis (RCA) of the 
Sentinel Event. 

B. Facilitation must be done by 3 or more trained staff members in the following 
positions: 

1. Main facilitator(s) 

2. Staff member(s) to maintain the visual media 

3. Note taker(s) 

C. The RCA will review the systems involved in the adverse event, not solely the staff or 
providers involved. 

D. All information discussed within the RCA is to be kept confidential within MHSC. 

E. Developing and Implementing an Action Plan 

1. Once the RCA has been completed, the team is to develop and implement 
a corrective action plan that will address both direct and root causes as 
well as – when appropriate -- special and common cause variation. Special 
cause is a factor that intermittently and unpredictably induces variation 
over and above what is inherent in the system. It often appears as an 
extreme point (such as a point beyond the control limits on a control chart) 
or some specific, identifiable pattern in data. Common cause is a factor 
that results from variation inherent in the process or system. The risk of a 
common cause can be reduced by redesigning the process or system. 

2. The action items are given due dates and responsible parties for 
completion. 

F. The notes/information from the RCA is documented in the attached Appendix A: 
"RCA and 2.0 Action Plan Worksheet" form. 

VI. Internal Reporting 

A. A summary, void of patient or practitioner identifiable information, of the Sentinel 
Event, the root cause(s) identified, and the corrective actions taken will be reported 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 5

28/169



DRAFT

to the Patient Safety Committee, Quality Committee of the Board, Medical Executive 
Committee and to the Board of Trustees. The corrective action plan will also be 
communicated to other appropriate parties within the organization. 

VII. Billing/Coding (as applicable to Never Events) 

A. Administration will work with the Director of Health Information Management to 
determine accurate and appropriate coding. Administration will work with the 
Director of Patient Financial Services to determine appropriate waiving of cost on a 
case by case scenario with the thresholds being incremental costs associated with 
the Event to the entire bill for that episode of care 

Confidential and Protected 

I. Protection from Discovery 

A. All activities undertaken by the team should be done under the auspices of the 
quality management functions and medical staff quality assurance / peer review 
process. Other legal protections are to be implemented as determined by legal 
counsel. 

II. Record Keeping 

A. A record of the investigation into the Sentinel Event, the subsequent RCA, and any 
performance improvement activities undertaken is to be maintained and should be 
constructed in such a way as to be afforded statutory protection from discovery. 

III. WY Stat 35-2-910. Quality management function for health care facilities; confidentiality; 
immunity; whistle blowing; peer review. 

IV. All quality and patient safety data, materials, and information are private and confidential, shall 
be considered the property of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, and as such is 
protected by state and federal health care quality statutes. 

V. Confidentiality shall be maintained based on full respect of the patient's right to privacy and in 
keeping with hospital policy and state and federal regulations governing the confidentiality of 
quality and patient safety work. 

VI. Information, data results, reports and minutes generated by all quality management activities 
will be handled in a manner ensuring strict confidentiality 

VII. Confidential information may include but is not limited to: Medical Staff committee minutes, 
organizational quality improvement committee minutes, electronic data gathering and 
reporting, and incident/occurrence reporting W.S 35-17-105 

VIII. Quality improvement activities will occur in ways that preserve confidentiality of information 
consistent with policy and established law 

IX. The Joint Commission is an independent contractor. Any event reported to The Joint 
Commission is performed under the auspice of the Quality Committee. 

Replaces: Sentinel Events, SPP 121 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 4 of 5

29/169



DRAFT
Attachments 

2022 TJC Sentinel Event Policy.pdf 

Appendix A: RCA 2.0 and Action Plan Worksheet (non-fillable) 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Irene Richardson: CEO 04/2021 

Ann Clevenger: CNO 03/2021 

Kari Quickenden: Chief Clinical 
Officer 

03/2021 

Kara Jackson: Director Quality 03/2021 

Noreen Hove: Infection 
Prevention Director 

03/2021 

Suzan Campbell: General Legal 
Counsel 

03/2021 

References 

Reviewed and Approved: 

I. United Regional. LRG Healthcare. (August, 2020). Sentinel Event Policy & Procedure. Unpublished 
internal document. 

The Joint Commission. (2022, January). Sentinel Event Policy. CAMH_00_TOC (jointcommission.org) 

The University of Toledo Medical Center. (2021). Sentinel Events Never Events and Adverse Events Policy. 
Unpublished internal document 

National Quality Forum. (2022, October). List of SREs. NQF: List of SREs (qualityforum.org) 

Medical Executive Committee: February 28th, 2023 
Quality Committee of the Board: March 15th, 2023 
Board of Trustees: 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 5 of 5

30/169



Separator Page

Sentinel Event Policy-Draft-Changes for May 2023

31/169



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 12304375 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

General - 
Housewide 

Reg. 
Standards 

TJC 
LD.03.09.01,
TJC 
MM.05.01.01,
TJC 
RI.01.02.01, 
EP 21 

Sentinel Event Policy 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

TEXT 
Definitions 

I. Sentinel Event - An unexpected occurrence involving death or serious physical or 
psychological injury, or risk thereof. Such events are called "sentinel" because they signal the 
need for immediate investigation and response. 

A. Furthermore, a Sentinel Event can also be described as a patient safety event (not 
primarily related to the natural course of the patient’s illness or underlying condition) 
that reaches a patient and results in any of the following: 

1. Death 

2. Permanent Harm 

3. Severe Temporary Harm 

a. Critical, potentially life-threatening harm lasting for a limited 
time with no permanent residual, but requires transfer to a 

ItMemorial Hospital of Sweetwater County's vision is the goal of the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County to provide theto be the community's trusted health care provider. In line with our mission, vision 
and values we are committed to providing safe, high-quality care. To that end we must work to reduce 
the occurrence of serious safety events and Sentinel Events in our community deserves and expects 
from our institution. We must constantly work to reduce the occurrence of serious safety events and 
Sentinel Events in our facility. When a Sentinel Event occurs, it is our responsibility to carry out an 
expeditious and thorough investigation to reduce or eradicate future harm to patients, staff, and facility. 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 9

32/169



DRAFT

higher level of care/monitoring for a prolonged period of time, 
transfer to a higher level of care for a life-threatening condition, 
or additional major surgery, procedure, or treatment to resolve 
the condition. 

B. An event is also considered sentinel if it is one of the following: 

1. Suicide of any patient receiving care, treatment, or services in a staffed 
around-the-clock care setting or within 72 hours of discharge, including 
from the organization’s emergency department (ED) 

2. Unanticipated death of a full-term infant 

3. Discharge of an infant to the wrong family 

4. Abduction of any patient receiving care, treatment, or services 

5. Any elopement (that is, unauthorized departure) of a patient from a staffed 
around-the- clock care setting (including the ED) leading to the death, 
permanent harm, or severe temporary harm of the patient 

6. Administration of blood or blood products having unintended ABO and 
non-ABO (Rh, Duffy, Kell, Lewis, and other clinically important blood 
groups) incompatibilities, hemolytic transfusion reactions, or transfusions 
resulting in severe temporary harm, permanent harm, or death 

7. Sexual abuse/assault 

a. of any patient while receiving care, treatment, and services while 
on site at the organization/facility or while under the 
supervision/care of the organization.* 

b. of a staff member, licensed independent practitioner, visitor, or 
vendor while on site at the organization/facility or while 
providing care/supervision to patients.* 

c. *Sexual abuse/assault (including rape) as a sentinel event is 
defined as nonconsensual sexual contact, including oral, vaginal, 
or anal penetration or fondling of the individual’s sex organ(s) by 
another individual. 

d. One or more of the following must be present to determine that 
it is a sentinel event: 

i. Any staff-witnessed sexual contact as described 
above. 

ii. Admission by the perpetrator that sexual contact, as 
described above, occurred on the premises. 

iii. Sufficient clinical evidence obtained by the health care 
organization to support allegations of nonconsentual 
sexual contact. 

8. Physical assault of any patient (leading to death, permanent harm, or 
severe temporary harm) while receiving care, treatment, and services while 
on site at the organization/facility or while under the supervision/care of 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 9

33/169



DRAFT

the organization. 

9. Physical assault (leading to death, permanent harm, or severe temporary 
harm) of a staff member, licensed independent practitioner, visitor, or 
vendor while on site at the organization/facility or while providing care/
supervision to patients. 

10. Homicide of any patient while receiving care, treatment, and services while 
on site at the organization/facility or while under the supervision/care of 
the organization. 

11. Homicide of any patient while receiving care, treatment, and services while 
on site at the organization/facility or while under the supervision/care of 
the organization. 

12. Surgery or other invasive procedure performed at the wrong site, on the 
wrong patient, or that is the wrong (unintended) procedure for a patient 

13. Unintended retention of a foreign object in a patient after an invasive 
procedure, including surgery 

14. Fall event 

a. Fall resulting in any of the following: any fracture; surgery, 
casting, or traction; required consult/management or comfort 
care for a neurological (for example, skull fracture, subdural or 
intracranial hemorrhage) or internal (for example, rib fracture, 
small liver laceration) injury; or a patient with coagulopathy who 
receives blood products as a result of the fall; death or 
permanent harm as a result of injuries sustained from the fall 
(not from physiologic events causing the fall). 

15. Severe neonatal hyperbilirubinemia (bilirubin >30 milligrams/deciliter) 

16. Prolonged fluoroscopy with cumulative dose >1,500 rads to a single field 
or any delivery of radiotherapy to the wrong body region or >25% above the 
planned radiotherapy dose 

17. Fire, flame, or unanticipated smoke, heat, or flashes occurring during direct 
patient care caused by equipment operated and used by the hospital. To 
be considered a sentinel event, equipment must be in use at the time of 
the event; staff do not need to be present 

18. Any intrapartum (related to the birth process) maternal death 

19. For further in depth definitions, please review attached document "The 
Joint Commission Sentinel Event Policy". 

II. Invasive Procedure-procedure in which skin or mucous membranes and/or connective tissue 
are incised or punctured, an instrument is introduced through a natural body orifice, or 
insertion of foreign material into the body for diagnostic or treatment-related purposes. 
Examples of invasive procedures include central line and chest tube insertions, biopsies and 
excisions, and all percutaneous procedures (e.g., cardiac, electrophysiology, interventional 
radiology). 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 9

34/169



DRAFT

III. Occurrence Report - The on-line form submitted by staff to the Risk/Compliance Department 
as described in the Occurrence Reporting procedure 

IV. Root Cause Analysis (RCA) - A comprehensive systemic evaluation of an occurrence in an 
attempt to identify underlying causes or effects of a serious safety event. An RCA can also be 
described as an interdisciplinary team analysis to definitively determine the conditions that 
caused an event, with the understanding that if the undesirable condition were eliminated, 
changed, or controlled, the event could have been prevented. 

V. Action plan - The product of a Root Cause Analysis that identifies the strategies that an 
organization plans to implement to reduce the risk of similar events occurring in the future. 

A. An appropriate action plan includes: 

1. Identification of changes that can be implemented to reduce risk, or 
formulates a rationale for not undertaking such changes. 

2. The plan should address responsibility for implementation, oversight, pilot 
testing if appropriate, time lines and methods for measuring the 
effectiveness of the recommended actions. 

3. Action plans will include the adequacy of staffing, including nursing 
staffing, in its analysis of possible causes 

Internal Reporting of Suspected Sentinel Events 

Definitions 

I. Sentinel Event - A patient safety event (not primarily related to the natural course of a patient’s 
illness or underlying condition) that reaches a patient and results in death, severe harm 
(regardless of duration of harm), or permanent harm (regardless of severity of harm). Please 
refer to attached document, 2022 The Joint Commission (TJC) Sentinel Event Policy. 

II. Occurrence Report - An occurrence is broadly defined as any happening (occurrence) that is 
not consistent with routine operation of the facility. Included in this definition are accidents 
(with or without injury) involving patients, visitors, and employees. Also included are violations 
of established procedures, disturbances, or other unfavorable situations that may damage the 
facility's public reputation or image. Occurrences include good catches. 

III. Root Cause Analysis (RCA) - A comprehensive systemic evaluation of an occurrence in an 
attempt to identify underlying causes or effects of a serious safety event. An RCA can also be 
described as an interdisciplinary team analysis to definitively determine the conditions that 
caused an event, with the understanding that if the undesirable condition were eliminated, 
changed, or controlled, the event could have been prevented. 

IV. Action plan - The product of a Root Cause Analysis that identifies the tactics and strategies 
that an organization plans to implement to reduce the risk of similar events occurring in the 
future. 

A. An appropriate action plan includes: 

1. Identification of changes that can be implemented to reduce risk, or 
formulates a rationale for not undertaking such changes. 

2. The plan should address responsibility for implementation, oversight, pilot 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 4 of 9

35/169



DRAFT

testing if appropriate, time lines and methods for measuring and 
monitoring the effectiveness of the recommended actions. 

V. Never Event - According to the National Quality Forum (NQF), “never events” are "non 
reimbursable errors in medical care that are clearly identifiable, preventable, and serious in 
their consequences for patients, and that indicate a real problem in the safety and credibility of 
a health care facility." Please see list of Never Events from the National Quality Forum List of 
Serious Reportable Events for further information. 

Reporting of Suspected Sentinel Events 

I. Identification of a Sentinel Event 

A. When a safety event, or occurrence takes place, the first course of action is to 
stabilize and/or monitor the patient or environment. 

B. Following the stabilization, an individual with direct knowledge of the occurrence will 
complete an Occurrence Report. Additionally, any potential Sentinel Event is to be 
reported immediately to the Quality/Risk Department and/Compliance Department 
and/or Administrator On Call (AOC). An individual must also be designated to 
complete an Occurrence Report. 

C. If necessary, immediate remediation to life threatening processes or risks will occur. 

D. Per the Disclosure of Adverse Medical Event policy, the Quality/Risk Department, in 
conjunction with the attending physician, and legal counsel will determine if 
disclosure of the event to patient and family is appropriate. 

E. Upon notification, this individualQuality/Risk Department will undertake or direct an 
initial investigation into the occurrence. Upon completion of initial investigation, 
Quality/Risk Department will present findings to determine if the occurrence is 
indeed a Sentinel Event as defined by this policy. If the event is determined not to be 
sentinel in nature, it will be addressed in accordance with the established 
Occurrence Report procedure. 

If the event is determined to be sentinel in nature, then the Hospital shall respond as 
noted in this policy. 

II. Notification/Communication of Sentinel Events 

A. Upon determination that a Sentinel Event has occurred, the Quality/Risk/Compliance 
Department and/or available Administrator On Call will notify key representatives of 
the Hospital's leadership team. 

B. The Risk/Compliance Department or the AOC will also be responsible for notifying 
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) andwill be responsible for notifying the Board 
President of the sentinel eventSentinel Event. 

Per the Event Disclosure policy, the Risk/Compliance Department, in conjunction 
with the attending physician, and legal counsel will determine the proper time and 
method disclosure of the event to the patient and the family. 

III. External Reporting of Sentinel Events 

A. Our Hospital may report sentinel events to The Joint Commission for review. 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 5 of 9

36/169



DRAFT

B. The CEO or his/her designee will be responsible for correspondence with outside 
agencies inquiring about sentinel, or other serious safety events. The decision to 
report a potential Sentinel Event to The Joint Commission for review will be made 
with prior knowledge of the CEO. 

IV. Formation of a Sentinel Event Response Team 

A. AAn ad hoc team is towill be formed to respond to aeach Sentinel Event. 
TheHowever, each team shouldwill always include, but not necessarily be limited to, 
the following: 

1. Appropriate representatives of administration, medical staff, legal, and 
quality/risk, quality, and public relations. 

2. Those individuals directly involved in the event 

B. The purpose of the team will be to coordinate an investigation into the incident,
conduct a root cause analysis, and determine corrective actions to undertake in 
response to finding and/or identified opportunities for improvement. 

Protection from Discovery 

A. All activities undertaken by the team should be done under the auspices of the 
quality management functions and medical staff quality assurance / peer review 
process. Other legal protections are to be implemented as determined by legal 
counsel. 

Immediate Remediation 

A. The team will undertake those actions necessary to remediate any immediate threat 
or likelihood of the Sentinel Event recurring. 

V. Investigation of Event/Conducting a Root Cause Analysis 

A. The team is to undertake a thorough and credible Root Cause Analysis (RCA) of the 
Sentinel Event. The RCA should be completed within 45 days of the organization 
becoming aware of the event. 

1. A Root Cause Analysis may also be organized at the request of a leader in 
any department as a method to delineate cause in an occurrence of lesser 
significance. 

B. Facilitation must be done by 3 or more trained staff members in the following 
positions: 

1. Main facilitator(s) 

2. Staff member(s) to maintain the visual media 

3. Note taker(s) 

C. The RCA must followwill review the systems involved in the adverse event, not solely 
the staff or providers involved. 

D. All information discussed within the RCA is to be kept confidential within MHSC. 

E. Developing and Implementing an Action Plan 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 6 of 9

37/169



DRAFT

1. Once the RCA has been completed, the team is to develop and implement 
a corrective action plan that will address both direct and root causes as 
well as – when appropriate -- special and common cause variation. Special 
cause is a factor that intermittently and unpredictably induces variation 
over and above what is inherent in the system. It often appears as an 
extreme point (such as a point beyond the control limits on a control chart) 
or some specific, identifiable pattern in data. Common cause is a factor 
that results from variation inherent in the process or system. The risk of a 
common cause can be reduced by redesigning the process or system. 

2. The action items are given due dates and responsible parties for 
completion. 

F. The notes/information from the RCA is documented in the the attached Appendix A: 
"RCA and 2.0 Action Plan Worksheet" form. 

VI. Internal Reporting 

A. A summary, void of patient or practitioner identifiable information, of the Sentinel 
Event, the root cause(s) identified, and the corrective actions taken will be reported 
to the Patient Safety Committee, Quality Committee of the Board, Medical Executive 
Committee and to the Board of Trustees. The corrective action plan will also be 
communicated to other appropriate parties within the organization. 

VII. Billing/Coding (as applicable to Never Events) 

A. Administration will work with the Director of Health Information Management to 
determine accurate and appropriate coding. Administration will work with the 
Director of Patient Financial Services to determine appropriate waiving of cost on a 
case by case scenario with the thresholds being incremental costs associated with 
the Event to the entire bill for that episode of care 

External Reporting of Sentinel Events 

I. Our Hospital may report sentinel events to The Joint Commission for review. 

II. The CEO or their designee will be responsible for correspondence with outside agencies 
inquiring about sentinel, or other serious safety events. The decision to report a potential 
Sentinel Event to The Joint Commission for review will be made with prior knowledge of the 
CEO. 

III. A report that complies with The Joint Commission requirements will be compiled following the 
RCA that will be available for external reporting. This report must include: 

A. Comprehensive Systemic Analysis of the event 

B. Action plans and time-line for completion 

IV. Risk/Compliance will prepare report described above and will collaborate with Quality/
Accreditation regarding submission of report to The Joint Commission within 45 business 
days of becoming aware of event. 

A. Should The Joint Commission become aware of a Sentinel Event by reporting from a 
third party, the official report with follow-up information is required within 45 
business days of becoming aware of the event 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 7 of 9

38/169



DRAFT

Confidentiality 

Confidential and Protected 

I. Protection from Discovery 

A. All activities undertaken by the team should be done under the auspices of the 
quality management functions and medical staff quality assurance / peer review 
process. Other legal protections are to be implemented as determined by legal 
counsel. 

II. Record Keeping 

A. A record of the investigation into the Sentinel Event, the subsequent RCA, and any 
performance improvement activities undertaken is to be maintained and should be 
constructed in such a way as to be afforded statutory protection from discovery. 

III. WY Stat 35-2-910. Quality management function for health care facilities; confidentiality; 
immunity; whistle blowing; peer review. 

IV. All quality and patient safety data, materials, and information are private and confidential, shall 
be considered the property of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, and as such is 
protected by state and federal health care quality statutes. 

V. Confidentiality shall be maintained based on full respect of the patient's right to privacy and in 
keeping with hospital policy and state and federal regulations governing the confidentiality of 
quality and patient safety work. 

VI. Information, data results, reports and minutes generated by all quality management activities 
will be handled in a manner ensuring strict confidentiality 

VII. Confidential information may include but is not limited to: Medical Staff committee minutes, 
organizational quality improvement committee minutes, electronic data gathering and 
reporting, and incident/occurrence reporting W.S 35-17-105 

VIII. Quality improvement activities will occur in ways that preserve confidentiality of information 
consistent with policy and established law 

IX. The Joint Commission is an independent contractor. Any event reported to The Joint 
Commission is performed under the auspice of the Quality Committee. 

References 

Replaces: Sentinel Events, SPP 121 

I. United Regional. (LRG Healthcare. (August, 2020). Sentinel Event Policy & Procedure. Unpublished 
internal document, United Regional. 

Reviewed and Approved: 
MEC 09/22/2020 
Quality Committee of the Board 10/21/2020 
Board of Trustees 12/2/2020 

The Joint Commission. (2022, January). Sentinel Event Policy. CAMH_00_TOC (jointcommission.org) 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 8 of 9

39/169



DRAFT

Attachments 

2022 TJC Sentinel Event Policy.pdf 

Appendix A: RCA 2.0 and Action Plan Worksheet (non-fillable) 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Irene Richardson: CEO 04/2021 

Ann Clevenger: CNO 03/2021 

Kari Quickenden: Chief Clinical 
Officer 

03/2021 

Kara Jackson: Director Quality 03/2021 

Noreen Hove: Infection 
Prevention Director 

03/2021 

Suzan Campbell: General Legal 
Counsel 

03/2021 

Reviewed and Approved: 

The University of Toledo Medical Center. (2021). Sentinel Events Never Events and Adverse Events Policy. 
Unpublished internal document 

National Quality Forum. (2022, October). List of SREs. NQF: List of SREs (qualityforum.org) 

Medical Executive Committee: February 28th, 2023 
Quality Committee of the Board: March 15th, 2023 
Board of Trustees: 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12304375/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 9 of 9

40/169



DRAFT

Sttus Draft PyStt ID 13570725

Arv N/A

Rvw Du N/A

Dut
Ar

Br 
Trusts

BOT - CEO Evaluation Policy

Board of Trustees

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE:

TEXT:
I. CEO Evut

A. It s t uty  t Br  Trusts (Br) t uy vut t rr
 t C Exutv Or (CEO).

B. T urs  t CEO vut s t rv ty, r,  us 
t t CEO ut w w s/ s

1. Prr  t y rr rs t s st rt y t
Br  Trusts  v t Hst’s strt tvs;

2. M t st   r sstt wt ts ss, vs, 
vus; 

3. Cut usss   wt y t usss
rts  rss ts.

II. Procedure:

T urs  t C Exutv Or (CEO) Prr Evut Py s t rv 
ut rss r t Br t w r vut t CEO’s rr, rv /r
wt ,  tr s/r st.

We do not have an incentive/ bonus structure for the CEO. Should the last phrase be eliminated?

BOT - CEO Evaluation Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
13570725/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 3

41/169



DRAFT

A. T CEO s  vut uy, t t st t  Hst’s s yr. T
vut s  s  rtr uy sts y t Br1  t CEO.

B. T rtr us t vut t CEO s  s   vrty  trs tt
surt t st’s ss, vs, vus,  strt s.

C. Prr y  vut us t Ar Hst Asst’s (AHA)
CEO Assessment r tt s  ustz t t t Hst’s s, r us
 ty trvw rss wr t rs  t Br’s Ctts rv
, s w s st t CEO’s rstv.

D. Rrss  t us, t CEO s  vut us rtr sts y
t Br  r t y t CEO.

E. Prur r us t Ar Hst Asst’s CEO Assessment r.

1. Mr; t r  t Exutv Ovrst & Cst (EO&C)
tt s tt t AHA t v r ustz t t Hst’s
s  v ustz r st t  Br rs.

2. Ar; Br rs s rtur t rs t AHA, w w
 rsss t  sury rrt tt rvs  vr
rr rt   r   sury  ts  y
Br rs  t CEO.

3. My; t EO&C Ctt s rvw t rsuts wt t CEO  s
s rvw t CEO’s rs s r t  yr, sur
utuy rt  tt.

4. Ju; t Br r s , r Br rv,   rrt  t
CEO’s rr vut  s r t u s yr.

F. Prur r us t ty trvw rss.

1. E t, Ctt rs, s w s Ctt rs, y
rv  rr t CEO’s rr s t rts t tt
tt’s wr rr t Hst’s ss, vs,  s, s
w s st t CEO’s rstv.

2. Ju; t Br r s , r Br rv,   rrt  t
CEO’s rr vut  s r t u s yr.

Footnote:

Board of Trustees Approval:

1Crtr s r y t Br’s Exutv Cst & Ovrst Ctt  rv
y t Br

BOT - CEO Evaluation Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
13570725/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 3

42/169



DRAFT

Arv Sturs

Step Description Approver Date

Hstry

BOT - CEO Evaluation Policy. Retrieved 04/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
13570725/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 3

43/169



 

ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date: May 1, 2023 
 
Topic for New Business Items: 

Notice of Award to A. Pleasant Construction for Oncology Suite 
Project 

 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ______  Revision 
 ___X__ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 

The Oncology Suite project is absolutely necessary and also has a time constraint for 
completion.  In an effort to expedite the process, Irene Richardson exercised her emergency 
authorization and began the process for collecting bids.  We received one bid and Irene 
Richardson authorized the award of the bid to the sole provider.  Irene Richardson received the 
Notice of Award on Friday, April 28th.    
 
Board Committee Action: 

Irene Richardson is requesting the Board of Trustees ratify the acceptance of the bid and Notice 
of Award to A. Pleasant Construction at the May 1, 2023 regular MHSC Board of Trustees 
meeting.   
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ______  For Review Only 
 ___X__ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ______  In House Comments:  N/A 
 ______  Board  Comments:  N/A 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: Irene Richardson, CEO, recommends approval of the 
Notice of Award to A. Pleasant Construction for the Oncology Suite construction project. 

44/169



p l a n o n e / a r c h i t e c t s 
c h e y e n n e c o d y r o c k s p r i n g s b o z e m a n 

325 W. 18th St. Suite 3 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 

307.514.4575 

225 W. Yellowstone Ave. Suite 4 
Cody, WY 82414 

307.587.8646 

4020 Dewar Dr. Suite A  
Rock Springs, WY 82901 

307.352.2954 

1174 Stoneridge Dr. Suite 213 
Bozeman, MT 59718 

406.219.5992 
 

 

NOTICE OF AWARD 
 

DATED: April 28, 2023 
 

TO: A. Pleasant Construction 
ADDRESS: P.O. Box 939 
 1 Pleasant Way 
 Green River, WY 82935 

PROJECT NO: 2159 

PROJECT NAME: Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County  
 Oncology Suite Renovation 
 Rock Springs, WY 

 
CONTRACT FOR: General Construction 

 

 

You are hereby notified that your Bid, dated April 13, 2023, for the above Contract has been considered. 
You are the apparent successful bidder and the Owner has awarded a contract to you for the Project 
indicated above. 

 
The Contract Price of your contract is Nine Hundred Ninety-Eight Thousand Three Hundred Dollars 
($998,300.00). 

 
Please provide the following as soon as possible: 

 
1. Deliver to the Architect three executed copies of the Owner/Contractor Agreement, after they are 

provided to you. 
 

2. Deliver to the Architect two executed copies of the Performance Bond and the Labor and Material 
Payment Bond. 

 
3. Deliver to the Architect two executed copies of the required Certificate of Insurance. Please 

make sure that Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County is named as “Additional Insured” on 
the Certificate. 

 
Please provide the above items as soon as possible so that the agreement can be executed by the Owner. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

William W. Wheatley, AIA  
Vice President 

 
 

cc: Irene Richardson 

45/169



46/169



47/169



48/169



49/169



50/169



51/169



52/169



53/169



54/169



55/169



56/169



57/169



58/169



59/169



60/169



61/169



62/169



63/169



64/169



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 1 

 

Rev: 04/2023 

Delineation of Privileges 

GENERAL SURGERY PRIVILEGES 

 

 Initial appointment    Reappointment    Modification of Privileges 

Applicant 

Check the “Requested” box for each privilege requested. Applicants have the burden of producing information deemed adequate by 

the hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, current clinical activity, and other qualifications and for resolving any 

doubts related to qualifications for requested privileges. 

To be eligible to request privileges in General Surgery, a practitioner must meet the following minimum threshold criteria: 

 

LICENSURE / 

PROFESSIONAL 

LIABILITY 

INSURANCE 

MD or DO 

Licensed to practice medicine in the State of Wyoming 

Current Wyoming designated DEA Registration and current Wyoming Controlled Substance Registration 

Professional liability insurance in the amounts of at least: Per Claim: $1,000,000.00 Aggregate: 

$3,000,000.00 

EDUCATION / 

TRAINING 

Completion of an approved residency in General Surgery by the Accreditation Council for Graduate 

Medical Education (ACGME) or American Osteopathic Association (AOA).  

CERTIFICATION Certification by the applicable Surgery board for any clinical privileges for which applicant has applied, 

or be eligible for certification by such board.  Once physician is board certified, Maintenance of Board 

Certification is required. 

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(INITIAL) 

Applicant must demonstrate performance of at least 100 general procedures reflective of the scope of 

privileges requested during the past 12 months or successful completion of an ACGME or AOA 

accredited resident or clinical fellowship within the past 12 months. 

Applicants for initial appointment may be requested to provide documentation of the number and types 

of hospital cases during the past 24 months.  Applicants have the burden of producing information 

deemed adequate by the Hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, and other qualifications 

and for resolving any doubts. 

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(REAPPOINTMENT) 

To be eligible to renew core privileges in General Surgery, the applicant must meet the following 

maintenance of privilege criteria: Current demonstrated competence and an adequate volume of 

experience (100 general surgery procedures) with acceptable results, reflective of the scope of privileges 

requested, for the past 24 months based on results of ongoing professional practice evaluation and 

outcomes. Evidence of current physical and mental ability to perform privileges requested is required of 

all applicants for renewal of privileges. 

FPPE FPPE criteria will be assigned by the Department Chair during the approval process. 

OTHER 

REQUIREMENTS 
 Note that privileges granted may only be exercised at the site(s) and setting(s) that have the 

appropriate equipment, license, beds, staff, and other support required to provide the services 

defined in this document. Site-specific services may be defined in hospital or department policy. 

 This document is focused on defining qualifications related to competency to exercise clinical 

privileges. The applicant must also adhere to any additional organizational, regulatory, or 

accreditation requirements that the organization is obligated to meet.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

65/169



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 2 

 

Rev: 04/2023 

Requested PATIENT POPULATION AND SETTING Board 

Approval 

 PATIENT POPULATION  

☐ Newborns/Infants (birth to 1 year) ☐ 

☐ Pediatric (age 2 to 21 years) ☐ 

☐ Adult (18 years or older) ☐ 

☐ Geriatric (65 and older) ☐ 

 SETTING  

☐ Outpatient ☐ 

☐ Inpatient  ☐ 

 

GENERAL SURGERY CORE PRIVILEGES - This is not intended to be an all-encompassing procedures list.  It 

defines the types of activities/procedures/ privileges that the majority of practitioners in this specialty perform at this 

organization and inherent activities/ procedures/privileges requiring similar skill sets and techniques. 
NOTE: Applicant must be currently privileged to perform the following procedure using non-robotic techniques.  This 

applies to every procedure for which the applicant is requesting robotic privileges, both for initial appointment and renewal 

of privileges. Please indicate which type of privileges you are requesting:  

Open    Laparoscopic    Robotic    All 
Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 

☐ Admit, evaluate, diagnose, and provide pre-, intra-, and postoperative care and perform surgical procedures 

to patients of all ages to correct or treat various conditions, diseases, disorders, and injuries of the 

alimentary tract, skin, soft tissues, and breast; endocrine system; head and neck; surgical oncology, trauma 

and nonoperative trauma; and the vascular system. May provide care to patients in the intensive care 

setting in conformance with unit policies. Assess, stabilize, and determine disposition of patients with 

emergent conditions consistent with medical staff policy regarding emergency and consultative call 

services. The core privileges in this specialty include the procedures on the attached procedures list and 

such other procedures that are extensions of the same techniques and skills. 

☐ 

☐ Consulting privileges for General Surgery – evaluate, diagnose, document ☐ 

☐ Abdominal wall surgery, including management of all forms of hernias ☐ 

☐ Abdominoperineal resection ☐ 

☐   Adrenalectomy ☐ 

☐   Colectomy ☐ 

☐   Common duct exploration/stone extraction ☐ 

☐   Hernia repairs ☐ 

☐   Lysis of adhesions ☐ 

☐   Small bowel surgery ☐ 

☐   Stomach surgery ☐ 

☐ Anatomic exposure for spine surgery ☐ 

☐ Arterial or venous access procedures, including catheters, dialysis catheters, and ports ☐ 

☐ Amputations, above and below the knee, toe, transmetatarsal, digits ☐ 

☐ Appendectomy – Open & Laparoscopic ☐ 

☐ Bone Marrow Biopsy ☐ 

☐ Bowel obstruction surgery ☐ 

☐ Breast lesion excision or biopsy including FNA, core, vacuum assisted, incisional or excisional  ☐ 

☐ Bronchoscopy for diagnosis or treatment ☐ 

☐ Circumcision ☐ 

☐ Colon surgery for benign or malignant disease ☐ 

☐ Debridement of Wounds ☐ 

☐ Diagnostic and therapeutic colonoscopy  ☐ 

66/169



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 3 

 

Rev: 04/2023 

☐ Diagnostic and therapeutic EGD ☐ 

☐ Emergency or intraoperative arteriography ☐ 

☐ Emergency or intraoperative venography ☐ 

☐ Emergency or intraoperative pyelography ☐ 

☐ Emergency thoractomy ☐ 

☐ Enterostomy (feeding or decompression) ☐ 

☐ Esophageal resection and reconstruction ☐ 

☐ Excision of malignant and benign skin lesions ☐ 

☐ Fasciotomy ☐ 

☐ First Assist Only (must meet initial education/training criteria listed above) ☐ 

☐ Gallbladder, biliary tract, bile duct, hepatic duct, including biliary tract reconstruction surgeries ☐ 

☐ Ganglion cyst excision (palm or wrist; flexor sheath) ☐ 

☐ Gastric operations for cancer (radical, partial, or total gastrectomy) ☐ 

☐ Gastroduodenal surgery ☐ 

☐ Gastrostomy (feeding or decompression) ☐ 

☐ Genitourinary procedures incidental to malignancy or trauma ☐ 

☐ Gynecological procedures incidental to abdominal exploration ☐ 

☐ Gynecomastia surgery ☐ 

☐ Hospice and palliative medicine ☐ 

☐ Incision and drainage of abscesses and cysts, including abdominal, pelvic, ischiorectal, perirectal abscesses ☐ 

☐ Insertion and management of pulmonary artery catheters ☐ 

☐ Laceration repair ☐ 

☐ Laparoscopic fundoplication (antireflux surgery) ☐ 

☐ Laparoscopy, diagnostic or therapeutic ☐ 

☐ Laparotomy for diagnostic or for management of intra-abdominal sepsis or trauma ☐ 

☐ Liver biopsy, liver resection ☐ 

☐ Lung resection, wedge resection, lung biopsy ☐ 

☐ Lymph node biopsy ☐ 

☐ Lymph node dissections, including radical regional ☐ 

☐ Management of burns ☐ 

☐ Management of trauma ☐ 

☐ Mastectomy ☐ 

☐ Orchiectomy in association with hernia repair ☐ 

☐ Pancreatectomy, total or partial ☐ 

☐ Panniculectomy ☐ 

☐ Paracentesis ☐ 

☐ Parathyroid surgery ☐ 

☐ Perianal/perirectal surgery for fistula, fissure, hemorrhoids, including staples hemorrhoidectomy, etc. ☐ 

☐ Performance of history and physical exam ☐ 

☐ Pilonidal cyst excision/marsupialization ☐ 

☐ Placement of indwelling intra-abdominal catheter ☐ 

☐ Placement of indwelling intra-thoracic catheter ☐ 

☐ Pleurodesis, chemical or mechanical ☐ 

☐ Pyloromyotomy ☐ 

☐ Repair of perforated viscus (gastric, small intestine, large intestine) ☐ 

67/169



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 4 

 

Rev: 04/2023 

☐ Rib fracture repair/plating ☐ 

☐ Rigid endoscopy of the esophagus or rectum ☐ 

☐ Scalene node biopsy ☐ 

☐ Sentinel lymph node biopsy ☐ 

☐ Skin grafts (partial thickness, simple) ☐ 

☐ Skin operations involving undermining or advancement flaps, complex ☐ 

☐ Small-bowel surgery for benign or malignant disease ☐ 

☐ Soft tissue tumors management or excision ☐ 

☐ Splenectomy (trauma, staging, therapeutic) ☐ 

☐ Thoracentesis ☐ 

☐ Thoracoabdominal exploration ☐ 

☐ Thoracoscopy ☐ 

☐ Thoracostomy Tube ☐ 

☐ Thyroglossal duct cyst excision ☐ 

☐ Thyroid surgery, thyroidectomy with or without associated lymph node neck dissection ☐ 

☐ Tracheostomy/Cricothyroidotomy ☐ 

☐ Ultrasound use for image guidance surgery and trauma ☐ 

☐ Vagotomy ☐ 

☐ Vasectomy/sterilization procedures ☐ 

VASCULAR SURGERY 

☐ Arteriovenous fistula or graft formation AND maintenance for dialysis ☐ 

☐ Embolectomy and thrombectomy for vascular occlusion ☐ 

☐ Inferior Vena Cava Filter Placement AND Removal ☐ 

☐ Peritoneovenous drainage procedures for relief of ascites, venous shunts for portal hypertension ☐ 

☐ Sclerotherapy ☐ 

☐ Vein ligation, excision, and stripping ☐ 

☐ Vessel repair for trauma ☐ 

 Administration of Sedation and Analgesia 
Must be requested separately. Contact Medical Staff Services for privilege form. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

68/169



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 5 

 

Rev: 04/2023 

SPECIAL NON-CORE PRIVILEGES  

If desired, noncore privileges are requested individually in addition to requesting the core. Each individual requesting noncore 

privileges must meet the specific threshold criteria governing the exercise of the privilege requested including training, required 

previous experience, and maintenance of clinical competence. To be eligible to apply for the special non-core privileges listed below, 

the applicant must demonstrate successful completion of an approved, recognized course when such exists, or acceptable supervised 

training in residency, fellowship or other acceptable experience, and provide documentation of competence in performing the 

requested procedure consistent with criteria set forth in medical staff policies governing the exercise of specific privileges. 

Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 

☐ Endovenous Ablation Therapy 

Initial Privileges: Successful completion of an ACGME or AOA accredited residency or fellowship 

program, and hands-on CME course that included supervised training in the diagnosis and treatment of 

varicose veins, training in interpreting ultrasound examinations of the legs, and the 

performance/interpretation of 20 EVLT procedures. Applicant must demonstrate training and experience 

with the specific energy source to be used.  AND 

Required current experience: Demonstrated current competence and evidence of the performance of 

at least 10 EVLT procedures in the past 12 months or completion of training in the past 12 months. 

Renewal of privileges: Applicant must be able to show maintenance of competence with evidence of 

the performance and/or interpretation of at least 10 EVLT procedures in the past 24 months based on 

results of ongoing professional practice evaluation and outcomes. 

☐ 

☐ Robotic Surgery 

Initial Privileges: Successful completion of an ACGME or AOA accredited surgical residency or 

fellowship program with documented robotics training. AND 

 A trained resident or fellow must provide a reference letter from the residency/fellowship director 

overseeing the da Vinci Surgery training, stating that the applicant has performed the minimum 

number of robotic cases required.   

 Letter must also include an attestation of the current clinical competence of the applicant with 

respect to robotic surgery.   

 The applicant must also submit a case log demonstrating a minimum of 10 cases. The case log 

provided must show the applicant as surgeon for the Da Vinci cases. 

In the absence of formal training in a Residency or Fellowship:  

Surgeons requesting robotic privileges must complete a certified course in Robotic Assisted Surgery, 

complete simulator training and;  

 Observe a minimum of two (2) procedures with a credentialed robotic surgeon in the same specialty, 

and provide documentation of observations. 

 Complete the Intuitive training course to include console training and animal lab training and submit a 

copy of the course certificate or a letter from the course director.  

 Submit documentation of a minimum of five (5) robotic cases proctored by a surgeon approved by 

Intuitive. Proctor must have performed a minimum of thirty (30) robotic-assisted procedures in the 

same specialty as the requesting provider. 

Surgeons with prior robotic experience and current robotic privileges at another facility must 

submit documentation of a minimum of five (5) robotic cases within the last twelve (12) months at a 

similarly accredited facility. 

Renewal of Privileges:  

Applicant must be able to show maintenance of competence with evidence of the performance of at least 

6 robotic-assisted procedures in the past 24 months based on results of OPPE and outcomes.  

 Applicant must submit documentation of at least twelve (10) robotic-assisted laparoscopic 

procedures in the past 24 months, either at MHSC or another facility. 

 Low volume specialty procedures, which are performed less than five (5) times in 12 months, will 

be reviewed by the Department Chair on a case by case basis and recommendations made to the 

Credentials Committee prior to approval. 

 All robotic-assisted cases are subject to peer review. 
NOTE: Applicant must be currently privileged to perform the procedure using non-robotic techniques.  The 

applies to every procedure for which the applicant is requesting robotic privileges, both for initial 

appointment and renewal of privileges.  

☐ 

69/169



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 6 

 

Rev: 04/2023 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF APPLICANT 

I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, current experience, and demonstrated 

performance I am qualified to perform and that I wish to exercise at Hospital, and I understand that: 

a. In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by Hospital and Medical Staff policies and rules 

applicable generally and any applicable to the particular situation. 

b. Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation 

my actions are governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 
 

Applicant’s Printed Name:      

 

Applicant’s Signature:       Date:      

 

DEPARTMENT CHAIR REVIEW 

I have reviewed the requested clinical privileges and supporting documentation and make the following recommendations: 

 

☐ Recommend all privileges as requested 

 

☐ Recommend privileges with conditions/modifications (describe): 

 

 

 

☐ Do not recommend the following requested privileges (rationale for recommendation): 

 

 

☐ I assign ________________________________________ to complete the initial FPPE evaluations on this Practitioner. 

 

 

Department Chair’s Printed Name      

 

 

Department Chair’s Signature:       Date:      

 

FOR MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE USE ONLY 

Credentials Committee approval Date:    

Medical Executive Committee Approval Date:    

Board of Trustees approval Date:    

 

Privileges Effective From: ____________________ To: ____________________ 
 

Date Form Approved by Specialty:   04/17/2023    

Date Form Approved by Department Chair:  04/18/2023      

Date Approved by Credentials Committee:  04/17/2023    

Date Approved by MEC:    04/18/2023    

Date Approved by Board of Trustees:       

 

References 
1. Age Limit of Pediatrics; American Academy of Pediatrics; Age Limit of Pediatrics | Pediatrics | American Academy of Pediatrics (aap.org). 

2017: 1-14. 

2. NIH Style Guide: Age; National Institutes of Health; Age | National Institutes of Health (NIH). September 9, 2022: 1-2. 

 

70/169



April 2023 Quality Chair Report 
 
Topics discussed are below but not limited to: 
 

 ED-2B, trending down and currently at 69.41. 
 

 Sepsis Bundle Compliance trending flat overall with an increase in February to 50%. 
 

 Falls continue to trend under the upper control limit and dropped to 7 in February. 
 

 Star rating shows some improvement with more green in certain areas as time goes on.  
Patient experience is a focus and may have some low hanging fruit. 
 
 

71/169



F&A COMMITTEE CHAIR REPORT TO THE BOARD   

April 2023 meeting 

Chair – Ed Tardoni 

 The Finance and Audit Committee met in Zoom format this month.  All voting members except for the 

CEO were present.  The CEO was traveling and unable to connect.  Commissioner Slaughter (hospital 

liaison) attended. 

F&A DATA FOR THE MONTH 

The usual financial information was reviewed.  It was noted that we have had only two positive monthly 

bottom lines since January 2022.  Discussion of the challenges, mostly external economic influences, 

ensued.  The various possible opportunities for progress were discussed.  Board attention is directed to 

the financial goal graphs.  It was noted that the projections were made on a straight-line basis but 

performance would not be straight line.  Progress on the next fiscal year budget was discussed.  It was 

noted that MHSC has submitted a request for the same level of County Maintenance Funding as last 

fiscal year. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES  

The Committee, by unanimous vote, sends two capital expenditure to the Board for consideration with 

do pass recommendations. 

FY 23-39          MS UCS BLADE SERVERS         in the amount of $78,464.22           Budgeted Item 

Submitted by J. T. Thomson of IT 

Two proposals were obtained and this is the lowest cost. 

Has all appropriate staff signatures 

These are replacements for existing computer servers that have been in use two years beyond their end 

of service life and end of support life.  Technology has advanced to the point that four old servers may 

be replaced by two of these new units while still maintaining reliability demands.  Mr. Thomson 

explained how that worked. 

FY 23-48      SIEMANS CLOS ALPHA VA 30 C-ARM      in the amount of $184,189          Budgeted Item 

Submitted by Tracie Soller of Medical Imaging 

Has all appropriate staff signatures 

Purchase is single source made under a previously Board approved favorable purchasing agreement. 

These are an item of imaging equipment used in surgery and the ER.  The existing units reached end of 

product life in 2014 and end of service life in 2022. 

NEXT MEETING 

F&A Committee will meet at 1400 hours, Wednesday, May 31, 2023 in Zoom format. 

72/169



73/169



74/169



75/169



76/169



77/169



78/169



79/169



80/169



81/169



82/169



83/169



84/169



85/169



86/169



87/169



88/169



89/169



90/169



91/169



92/169



93/169



94/169



95/169



96/169



97/169



98/169



99/169



100/169



101/169



102/169



103/169



104/169



105/169



106/169



107/169



108/169



109/169



110/169



111/169



112/169



113/169



114/169



115/169



116/169



117/169



118/169



119/169



120/169



121/169



122/169



123/169



124/169



125/169



126/169



127/169



128/169



129/169



130/169



131/169



132/169



133/169



134/169



135/169



136/169



137/169



138/169



139/169



140/169



141/169



142/169



143/169



144/169



145/169



146/169



147/169



148/169



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Subject: Chair’s Report…April Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 
Date:  April 20, 2023 
 
Oncology Suite Project…the sole bid was submitted by A Pleasant Construction Company, 
Green River, WY in the amount of $998,300. The architect’s estimate for the project was 
$653,167. A change order is needed to correct some ingress/egress issues, etc. Will Wheatley 
from Plan One estimates that the cost should be $10,000 or less. Considerable discussion took 
place regarding the Hospital’s options. After all the discussion, it was agreed that the best 
option was to accept the bid as submitted. Mr. Kelsey moved that the B & G Committee 
support the option to accept the bid submitted by A Pleasant Construction, support the 
execution of Change Order No. One in the estimated amount of $10,000 or less, and to support 
the CEO’s recommendation for her to execute her emergency authorization authority to sign 
the construction contract, and to duly inform all Board members of this action. Mr. Tardoni 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. This action will need to be ratified at 
the May 3rd meeting of the Board of Trustees. 
 
Building Automation System…Harris Construction still needs to do some valve replacement 
work and to perform final balancing of the system. 
 
Bulk Oxygen/Landscaping Project…Gerry Johnston reported that the contractor will be working 
to finish up this project when the weather cooperates. It is still too cold now. 
 
Laboratory Renovation—SLIB Project…Will Wheatley reported that architectural work is 
progressing nicely. The project is scheduled to be bid out in late 2023. Will suggested that the 
Hospital seriously consider using the Construction Manager at Risk option for this project. 
 
Medical Imaging Final Phase---X-Ray and Core Project…Will Wheatley reported that he is 
waiting to see what the equipment needs are in the area before he can begin in earnest to do 
some architectural design work. 
 
Lightning Arrest System…the contract has been executed and it is projected that this project 
should be completed by June 30th. 
 
Foundation Lab Construction Grant…this project is being discussed by staff. Jim Horan talked 
about the need for upgraded mental health space at MHSC. The grant specifies that funds must 
be expended by the same deadline as for the Laboratory Project. 
 
The next meeting date will be discussed by staff and reported back…probably May 15th or 16th. 
 
Note: Tami was absent and Irene had to leave at the end of the Oncology Suite discussion to 
attend the County Commissioner’s meeting. 

149/169



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

April 18, 2023 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on April 18, 2023, 

at 2:08 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee - Chair 

   Mr. Ed Tardoni – Trustee 

   Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

Mr. James Horan, Director of Facilities 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Maintenance Supervisor/ Project Manager 

Mr. Will Wheatley, PlanOne Architects 

    

 

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the agenda.  Mr. Horan made a motion to approve the 

agenda.  Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the March 21, 2023 meeting. Ms. 

Richardson made a motion to approve the minutes.  Mr. Tardoni seconded; motion passed.  

 

 

 

 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Oncology Suite renovation 

 

Much discussion about the single bid received for this project. Mr. Wheatley outlined the itemized 

cost and gave his explanation for the higher bid amount (~$345K higher than architectural 

estimate). Contractor mark-ups over sub-contractors was one reason cited. Also, the presence of 

“free” Federal money was also cited as a contributor to any inflated bid (money seen as “free” is 

often spent more profligately than one’s “own” money. Inflated bids for projects funded from this 

“free” money is quite customary and to be expected in a “supply and demand” market). There was 

discussion about rejecting the single bid and re-bidding. But the problems associated with that 

outweigh any potential benefit and was rejected by the Committee. Mr. Tardoni asked if there 

might be any savings on the operational side of the project. Savings garnered by altering operations 

in order to enable the project to be less costly to perform. No such change could be identified. Ms. 

Richardson stated that this project must be completed to conform to State Pharmacy Board 

directives. And that MHSC would take ~1.5 days of “cash-on-hand” to compensate for increased 

cost of this project.  

All things considered, the overall consensus was to accept the single bid from “A Pleasant 

Construction” along with the additional amount for the additional door needed for code compliance 

(total project ~$1M). The Committee also decided to grant Ms. Richardson the ability to exercise 

her authority to grant approval of this project, and ask the full MHSC Board to ratify that choice 

at their next meeting. It is important that MHSC move ahead with this project as soon as possible 

in order to comply with State Pharmacy Board directives. 

Mr. Kelsey moved for: 

150/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 18, 2023, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

 Approval of the “A Pleasant Construction” (APC) bid of $998,300.00 plus the additional 

amount of (not to exceed) $10K for the additional door;  

 Granting Ms. Richardson, the right to exercise her authority to grant approval to APC for 

the above listed bid. 

 To notify all MHSC board members of this action by the Building and Grounds Committee. 

Mr. Tardoni seconded this motion and it was unanimously passed by the Committee. 

 
  

Building Automation System 

 

Mr. Johnston reported that there are still ~5 heating valves to be replaced when the weather 

moderates, enabling the heating system to be drained. Once all work is completed, balancing of 

the affected HVAC systems will be completed. 

 

Bulk Oxygen  

 

Mr. Johnston expects “Wylie Construction” to mobilize to commence work before the end of 

April, weather permitting.  

 

Lightning Arrest System 

 

Mr. Horan reported that “Wyolectric” was awarded the project and will be commencing it soon. 

They expect to have the entire project completed by the first of July, 2023. 

 

Medical Imaging Core and X-ray 

 

Mr. Wheatley now has the information from MHSC’s chosen vendor for x-ray equipment 

(Siemen’s). He will use this information and the vendor’s requirements to devise a remodeling 

plan for our consideration. 

 

Laboratory Renovation 

 

Mr. Wheatley said a comprehensive plan for the Lab will be offered to MHSC in May for us to 

consider. The idea is to advertise this project for bid in the autumn of 2023. With an expected start 

date of construction being the spring of 2024.  

 

Capital Construction Grant for Foundation Lab  

 

Mr. Horan noted that decisions for how best to use this space are still pending. That remodeling 

the space for behavioral health is part of that consideration and is a perceived need from the 

community.  

 

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Johnston noted the quantity of work orders submitted and completed for the month of March. 

He noted no fluctuation beyond normal for the month.  

 

151/169



 

 

Minutes of the April 18, 2023, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 3 

New Business 

 

No new business was presented. 

 

Other 

 

No other business was presented. Mr. Kelsey asked to keep the committee apprised of any 

changes with the Oncology Suite project. 

 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, May 16, 2023.   

 

Mr. Kelsey adjourned the meeting at 3:05 pm. 
 

 

Submitted by James Horan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

152/169



April 27, 2023 

 

 

MHSC Board of Trustees Report 
 

The State Lands and Investment Board met on April 7th to review grants submited for the ARPA funding 
that were not approved in December 2022. A�er review and a lot of ques�ons and discussion, SLIB 
approved the MOB renova�on project with a 3-2 vote. The �meline for this project is the same as the 
Lab renova�on/expansion in which all monies must be obligated by December 2024 and the project 
completed by December 2026. The total cost of this project is approximately $2.2M. 

The Founda�on’s donor wall has been installed and is currently on display. There was a donor reveal and 
recep�on on May 1st to present the wall to our donors and community.  

Rushmore furniture donated a new matress and box springs for one of the pa�ent rooms in the 
Waldner House. Occupancy has started to slow down a litle bit, which is expected in the summer 
months.  

We are currently working on pa�ent tes�monials, in conjunc�on with Deb Suton, MHSC Marke�ng 
Director. We hope to run a tes�monial campaign in Q3. 

In the upcoming months, the Founda�on Board has created a Finance Commitee to research future 
investment opportuni�es for Founda�on funds and will be exploring op�ons. We will also be discussing a 
future Capital Campaign to support either the Lab Expansion/Renova�on or the daVinci robot, as well as 
expanding the Guardian Angel program.  

Submited by: Tiffany Marshall  

153/169



 

Board Compliance Committee Meeting 

   Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

April 24th, 2023 

 
  

Present via Zoom: Suzan Campbell, In House Counsel, Kandi Pendleton, Trustee-Chair, Taylor Jones, 
Trustee, April Prado, Foundation & Compliance. 
Excused: Irene Richardson, CEO 

Minutes 
Call to Order 
The meeting was called to order at 9:05am by Kandi Pendleton. 
Agenda 
The March agenda was approved as written, Taylor made the motion and Suzan seconded it. Motion 
carried. 
Meeting Minutes 
The meeting minutes from the March 27th, 2023 meeting were presented. Taylor made the motion to 
approve the minutes as written and Suzan seconded. Motion carried.   

New Business 
1. RM/Compliance Hot Topics Update- Suzan reported that this document is the top management risks 
for healthcare. She stated that the areas highlighted in blue are already being done at MHSC. She 
continued that IT has been working really hard to make sure that all areas of technology are covered.  
From the report, she said that the one area for a potential audit could be “Vendor Management”. Taylor 
questioned what an audit in this area would look like. Suzan stated that she honestly doesn’t know who 
it would even involve or what it would look like. Questions about who oversees vendors, how is a 
vendor decided on, what information can they see, and accountability were all brought up. Taylor 
cautioned on scrutinizing vendors saying that the smaller one-man companies won’t have the same stuff 
as the bigger companies. Kandi warned that, due to recent happenings in town, we have a way to make 
sure that an employee doesn’t have a business that we are paying out to exclusively. She also talked 
about a conflict of interest and Suzan stated that the hospital does require that. Kandi stated that it is 
hard in a small town to not call who we know when we need something and that we need to make sure 
we are being equal with vendors. Suzan said that she knows that we have safeguards in place but that 
this is something that we may want to look into.  
2. HIPAA compliance during the registration process- Suzan stated that this is our new audit and then 
asked April to report on the timeline. 
 A. Timeline- April reported on the timeline, mostly just reviewing what has been previously been 
done and upcoming dates. Taylor stated that April should make a better plan for auditing the different 
areas. He suggested picking specific times and dates and being there to audit so that this doesn’t fall by 
the wayside. April added that she would have a better idea of times and dates after meeting with Cyndi 
this week and that she would let the committee know the schedule. 
 B. Audit Questions- April also presented the audit questions and added that there would be two 
more questions related to ABN’s being generated when needed. She also explained what ABN’s are and 
why they will be included in this audit. She asked for the committees input on questions or concerns 
that might have. Kandi stated that she had two; 1- the Ortho office has no privacy when a patient is 
checking in. She said that maybe it is something as simple as pulling the patient in through the door to 
gather the information so that the whole waiting room can’t hear it. And 2-Can the forms be signed 
annually? Suzan answered that we would research that and find out but as of now, they are signed at 
every visit. She added that this will be a good time for us to see if there are some processes that we can 
change to make it better for the patient experience. Taylor asked for clarification on an audit question 

 

154/169



 

regarding staff signing for patients. April responded that we are not signing for patients and that the 
question needs to rewritten. She stated that the patient must sign the electronic forms but staff does 
check boxes for them. She continued that we need to make sure that patients are aware of what they 
are signing and that staff is doing their best to make this happen. Taylor also questioned if writing what 
department is being observed is a good idea. He said that we don’t want to make people feel like they 
are being singled out. Suzan added that April could just write observed an admitting person at this time, 
on this date. All of these questions/concerns will be taken into consideration for the audit. Taylor added 
that it is so critical to get out in the work place and observe your employees and patients and he is glad 
that we will be out doing this.  

Standing Items-Reports 
a. HIPAA-The HIPAA report was presented and reviewed. Suzan stated that April and HR are working to 

get all the needed steps together. She reminded the committee that P2Sentinel comes from our 
Cerner system and always gives lots of possible breaches to April for review. Kandi asked why there 
was such a delay in the time something is reported and when it is sent to a Director for review-is it 
HR? Suzan reported that HR is definitely busy with everything else that happens in their department 
but that she talks to Amber regularly and asks her to get all of this moving and that Amber reports 
that she is. April offered that she feels like Amber is having these discussions with Directors but 
maybe isn’t putting dates in when she is reporting in Healthicity. If you do not change the date, it 
will default to the day you add everything. Suzan and April will visit with Amber and see what they 
can figure out. Taylor asked for clarification on “corrective action has taken place and incident is 
closed”. He further asked what that means and where that report goes. Suzan answered that it 
could be verbal coaching or a write up and that it is added to the employees HR file. April stated that 
it is also in the Healthicity program and that HR has 6 or 7 corrective actions to pick from when 
closing the incident.  

b. Exclusionary Report- The Exclusionary report was presents and Suzan reported that there was 
nothing on it for our physicians. She stated that we have not had a physician on the list but it is 
something that we are always watching.  

c. Gift Card OIG opinion- Suzan stated that this document just an FYI for the committee. She continued 
that she gets lots of questions about giving and receiving gifts to and from patients. The Cancer 
Center just asked if they can give a gift card as a reward to patients for finishing and returning a test. 
The OIG (Office of Inspector General) states that it okay to give a gift card to a patient.  

 

Additional Discussion  
The next meeting is scheduled for Memorial Day so Suzan proposes that it be moved to June 26th. Kandi 
said that she would be busy with Airstream but would try to get some one in her place. Suzan asked if 
June 23rd would work better for everyone and that was agreed upon. 
 

Next Meeting    

The next meeting will be on June 23rd, 2023 @ 9:00am        

 

Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 9:49am 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 

April Prado, Recording Secretary  

155/169



Minutes  

Governance Committee 

April 17, 2023 
 

Present: Irene Richardson, Marty Kelsey, and Barbara Sowada 

Zoom meeting called to order at 2:00 pm  

Agenda approved as written 

 

Old Business 

1. Memorial Hospital Meeting Guidelines. Guidelines discussed and approved as written. 

Action: to bring to May to BOT for second reading. and discussion. Draft attached. Marty 

2. Succession Plan. Irene brought a Success/Talent Management Plan written in 2015 for 

review and discussion. Changes were drafted during meeting. Will review again at May 

Governance meeting with goal of having a final draft copy to bring to the June BOT 

meeting. 

New Business 

1. Oncology mixing room project. Although the subject is not germane to Governance 

Committee, update of projected costs and timeline regarding accepting bid was 

requested by Board President.  

2. Draft Criteria for Senior Leadership Compensation. Discussed. Decided further 

discussion and action is the domain of Executive Oversight and Compensation (EOC) 

Committee. Barbara will bring this to EO&C Committee. 

3. CEO Evaluation and Contract. Discussed. Decided further discussion and action is the 

domain of Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee. Barbara will bring this to 

EO&C Committee. 

156/169



157/169



158/169



 

 

 

 

 
 

QLER Physician Medical Group P.A. 
1900 Campus Commons Drive Suite 100 
Reston, Virginia 20191 
(703) 766-6555 
www.qlersolutions.com 
 
 
 

QLER Physician Medical Group Telepsychiatry Agreement 

 
Presented to: 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

 
April 30, 2023 
 
 
 
  

159/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

2 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

 
This is an Agreement (“Agreement”) made as of April 28, 2023, by and between Qler Physician Medical Group, P.A., a 
professional corporation formed in Wyoming, which has corporate offices at 1900 Campus Commons Drive Suite 100, Reston, 
Virginia 20191 (referred to as “QLER” in this Agreement) and Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County which has offices at 
1200 College Dr, Rock Springs, WY 82901 (referred to as “Client” in this Agreement). 

 

1. Statement of Work.  Client has requested that QLER supply its tele-psychiatry services to supplement Client’s own medical 

staff. QLER agrees to provide psychiatric services within the Client’s facilities as documented in the Exhibits to this agreement. 

In addition to providers staffed for the Client per this agreement, the services also include: 

 Training of all required Client personnel on forms, workflow, and technology usage required to utilize the tele-

psychiatry platform 

 Monthly reporting showing details on consultations conducted by QLER  

 Assistance in configuring onsite technology (Tablets/Computers) 

 Scheduled video conferences (or calls) by QLER psychiatric leadership to foster strong relationships to Client’s 

staff and build awareness of community resources available 

 

2. Tele-Psych Providers to Be Assigned to Client.   QLER will assign tele-psych providers to work virtually at Client’s medical 

facilities. QLER will assign only tele-psych providers with proper state licensure and experience in treating patients with 

psychiatric conditions and warrants that assigned tele-psych providers will exert their best effort in the performance of the 

Services in accordance with prevailing local community standards of care and in a prompt, professional, and courteous 

manner. Under this agreement, QLER is not the Client’s employee, legal partner, co-venturer, principal, agent, insurer, or 

representative. Due to the unique nature of the Qler staffing model, Qler assigned Providers shall be exempted from any 

annual dues, credentialing costs or other fees levied upon clinical staff at Client facilities. 

 

3. Direction and Supervision.  The Assigned Tele-psych providers are assigned to supplement Client’s own medical staff. 

QLER and Client will work together to determine the best resource(s) to support the work of the Tele-psych providers assigned 

to Client.  

 

4. Insurance.  QLER will provide medical malpractice insurance (claims made) coverage to Assigned Tele-psych providers 

through its A-Rated insurance company in limits of $1,000,000 per incident and $3,000,000 in the aggregate or such higher 

limits as mandated by state law in the state of the Assignment.  Additionally, QLER will carry a Cyber Liability policy with a 

$3,000,000 annual aggregate limit of liability. Coverage hereunder is subject to the terms of the policy. 

 

5. Parties Responsibilities/Obligations.   

 

A. QLER’s responsibilities are to assist Client in pre-assignment review of the Assigned Tele-psych providers, 

including, as directed by Client in writing, and with the Assigned Tele-psych provider’s consent, the following: 

 

 Provide Curriculum Vitae; 

 Copies of professional credentialing information; 

 Disciplinary history; and 

 Such other matters as reasonably requested by Client, including but not limited to, supporting the initial Client 

hardware configuration to perform the services provided in this Agreement. 

 

 

 

160/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

3 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

B. Client’s responsibilities include the following: 

 Promptly review a proposed Assigned Tele-Psych provider’s qualifications and credentials and inform QLER 

if such proposed Assigned Tele-psych provider is acceptable to Client. 

 Credential QLER providers within Client facilities. 

 If applicable, credential QLER providers with Client’s insurance payers and submit professional fee billing to 

insurance payers. 

 Provide adequate supervision of the Assigned Tele-psych provider.  

 Provide the necessary onsite facilities, staff, supplies and support for the Assigned Tele-psych provider to 

provide services.  

 Provided the necessary IT support to enable the services to operate within the Client facilities.  This includes 

Client based Network support, EHR support and hardware support.   

 Client will make QLER aware of any IT system updates, downtime, or changes that can be reasonably 

predicted to have an impact on QLER’s capability to deliver services. 

 Promptly notify QLER of any claim or incident that may give rise to a claim or disciplinary proceeding against 

or involving the Assigned Tele-psych provider. 

 Promptly notify QLER of any incomplete medical record documentation required to be completed by the 

Assigned Tele-psych provider. 

 Accurately input all pertinent patient details into QLER’s Telehealth intake form when requesting a consultation 

with QLER’s Tele-psych provider. 

 

6. Disclaimer of Liability.    QLER expressly disclaims liability for any claim, loss, or liability of any kind resulting from: 

 

A. Client’s assigning Assigned Tele-psych providers to duties different from their original duties or Client making 

substantial changes to an Assigned Tele-psych provider’s job duties or risks without QLER’s prior written approval. 

 

B. Client’s delay in, or inability to connect to Telehealth platform.   

 

C. The conduct of Client’s officers, employees, and agents. 

 

D. Failure by Client to provide Assigned Tele-psych providers with information, IT support, training, and guidance 

necessary to deliver services within Client’s facilities.  

 

E. A violation or breach by Client of any law, statute, or regulation. 

 

7. Billing, Payment, and Record Keeping.   

 

QLER will invoice Client for services performed in accordance with the Statement of Work Exhibit(s) included with this 

agreement. QLER utilizes its telehealth platform to capture all pertinent billing details (Date, Time, Duration of consult, Tele-psych 

provider Name, Originating Facility Name etc.) and maintains a record of the transaction data. QLER will deliver all invoices 

electronically to the Client’s designated recipient, and Client is expected to review the invoice within Fifteen (15) business days of 

its submission to verify the transactions. If Client does not notify QLER of any discrepancies during the review period, QLER will 

deem the invoice to be accepted and Client agrees to remit payment for no later than Forty-Five (45) days from the invoice date. 

 

The balance of any invoice unpaid after Forty-Five (45) days shall bear interest at the rate of one percent (1%) per month.  In the 

event Client fails to pay any such invoice so that legal action is required, Client shall be liable for all costs of collection, including 

161/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

4 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

reasonable attorney fees.  If payment is not received in accordance with the terms hereof, QLER reserves the right to suspend 

services until payments are made.  

 

8. Term and Termination.   

  

A. Term and Termination of the Agreement.  The Agreement is for a one-year period, from date of execution, and is 

automatically renewable unless written notice to the contrary is received by QLER at least 60 days in advance of 

the renewal date.  Any Assignment, defined as an Exhibit, that has been separately executed under the Agreement, 

and is ongoing at the time of this Agreement’s termination, shall continue under the terms of this Agreement for the 

duration of the Assignment; or until the Assignment is terminated in accordance with section 8(B) of this Agreement.   

 

The parties agree that either party has the option to terminate this Agreement immediately if the other materially 

breaches any of the provisions in this Agreement. 

 
B. Termination of an Assignment.  Either Party shall have the right to terminate an Assignment for convenience by 

providing the other with sixty (60) days written notice. During the sixty (60) day notice period, it is understood that 
the Parties will maintain the same level of service and commitment as provided prior to the delivery of such 
termination notice. Terminated Assignments may be subject to additional terms and conditions as outlined in the 
Assignment Exhibit.  

 

C. Removal of an Assigned Tele-psych provider.  In the event Client has concerns over the quality of services 

rendered; or the performance of an Assigned Tele-psych provider, Client shall have the right to request the 

removal of an assigned Tele-psych provider, provided that, prior to execution of such request, Client notifies 

QLER in writing of such concerns and allows QLER a Fifteen (15) day Cure Period to remedy such concerns. If at 

the end of the Cure Period, QLER is unable to reasonably remedy Client’s concerns, QLER will remove and 

replace the assigned Tele-psych provider. 
 

D. Obligations upon Termination.  If either party terminates the Agreement; or an Assignment for convenience, Client 

will remain liable to pay any unpaid charges, and the provisions of Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 16, 17 and 18 of this 

Agreement will remain in effect notwithstanding termination.  

 

9. Limitation of Liability.  Neither party shall be liable to the other, or to any other person, for any special, exemplary, indirect, 

punitive, incidental, reliance or consequential damages, including any damages resulting from lost business, loss of goodwill, 

lost revenues, failure to realize anticipated savings, lost profits, inability to access the platform or any data store in the platform. 

 

Unless otherwise mutually agreed upon, each party’s maximum aggregate liability to the other or to any other person for any 

loss arising out of or related to the agreement or the installation, implementation, customization, use, inability to use, operation 

or support of the services shall not exceed the total fees paid and/or payable by CLIENT to QLER in the twelve (12) month 

period immediately preceding the event(s) giving rise to such liability.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, the provisions 

set forth in this section 6 shall apply regardless of the form or action or theory of liability and even if a party was advised of 

the possibility of damages and whether damages were reasonably foreseeable.  The parties agree that these limitations are 

essential components of the agreement and form the basis for determining the fees charged for the services, and that neither 

party would enter into the agreement without these limitations on its liability.  These limitations will apply even if any limited 

remedy specified in the agreement is found to fail of its essential purpose. 

 

 

162/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

5 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

10. Indemnity.  Each Party agrees to indemnify and hold the other, its officers, directors, and employees harmless against all 

damages, liabilities, or costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and defense costs, to the extent caused solely by the acts 

of the indemnifying Party and/or its employees, subcontractors, or anyone for whom the indemnifying Party is legally liable.  

It is expressly agreed between the parties that QLER shall not be obligated to indemnify Client, its Health Systems or its Users 

for claims that relate to the access or performance of the Telehealth platform.   

 

11. No Warranty.  Access to the Telehealth Platform and Data are provided “as is” and “as available” without warranty of any 

kind, including the implied warranties of merchantability, and fitness for a particular purpose. Client is solely responsible for 

any and all actions or omissions taken or made by Client or its authorized users in reliance on or in connection with access to 

the Platform or the data therein. QLER has no responsibility or obligation to replace any hardware, software or media damaged 

by access to, or accident, abuse or misuse of the Platform or the Data by Client. Except as set forth otherwise, in no event 

may QLER be liable for. 

 

12. Solicitation of Assigned Tele-psych providers and Candidate Ownership.   

As a result of QLER’s substantial investment in maintaining QLER staff of tele-psych providers, and in consideration of the 

services rendered by QLER, it is agreed that for a period of two (2) years after the last day for which services are delivered 

by an Assigned Tele-psych provider, that Client will not directly, or indirectly through a third party, utilize or hire the Assigned 

Tele-psych provider, unless otherwise agreed to by QLER in writing.  Should Client hire any of the Assigned Tele-psych 

providers directly as an employee or independent contractor, Client shall pay to QLER an amount equal to thirty percent (30%) 

of the annualized pay of such Assigned Tele-psych provider.   

 

13. Equal Opportunity.   

 

A. It is QLER’s policy not to discriminate with regard to race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital or veteran 

status, age, or the presence of a nonjob-related handicap.  QLER will follow this policy in providing Assigned Tele-

psych providers to Client under this Agreement.  Client agrees to comply with its legal obligations in this regard.  

 

B. Client and QLER agree not to harass, discriminate against, or retaliate against any Assigned Tele-psych provider 

because of his or her race, national origin, age, sex, religion, disability, marital status, or other category protected 

by law; nor shall either party cause or request the other party to engage in such discrimination, harassment, or 

retaliation.  In the event of any complaint of unlawful discrimination, harassment, or retaliation by any Assigned 

Tele-psych provider, Client and QLER agree to cooperate in the prompt investigation and resolution of such 

complaint. 

 

14. Status of Assigned Tele-psych Providers.  Client acknowledges and agrees that the Assigned Tele-psych providers are 

employees or independent contractors of QLER. QLER shall have no right to direct or control independent medical judgement 

of the Assigned Tele-psych providers. QLER reserves the right, upon notice to client and subject to the client credentialing 

process, to remove and replace Tele-psych providers from Assignments. 

 

15. Independent Contractor. The Parties are independent contractors of each other, and neither Party shall hold itself out to be, 

nor shall either Party be deemed or construed to be, for any reason, an agent or employee of the other Party. 
 

 

16. Legal Compliance.  The Parties shall comply with, and QLER shall direct the Tele-Clinical Team to comply with, all applicable 

federal, state, and local statutory and regulatory requirements, including, without limitation, rules, regulations and guidelines 

of the American Medical Association and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996.  Because Client 

163/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

6 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

controls the facilities in which the Tele-Clinical Team works, Client is responsible for compliance with the Occupational Safety 

and Health Act and comparable state laws and regulations thereunder to the extent those laws apply to the Assigned Tele-

psych providers. 

 

17. Waiver.  The failure of either party to enforce at any time, or from time to time, any provision of this Agreement shall not be 

construed as a waiver thereof.   

 

18. Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement between the parties that expressly amends, 

terminates, or supersedes this Agreement. 

 

19. Validity of Terms.  If any term or provision of this Agreement shall be held void, illegal, unenforceable, or in conflict with any 

law of a federal, state, or local government having jurisdiction over this Agreement, the validity of the remaining portions or 

provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby.  

 
20. Choice of Law & Venue.  This Agreement and any claims arising out of this Agreement (or any other claims arising out of 

the relationship between the parties) shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights of the parties shall 
be governed by, the laws of the State of Wyoming.  This Agreement shall in all respects be interpreted, enforced and governed 
under the internal and domestic laws of the State of Wyoming.  Any claims or legal actions by one party against the other 
shall be commenced and maintained in any state or federal court located in the State of Wyoming.  Client hereby consents to 
the jurisdiction and venue of the courts of the State of Wyoming relative to any dispute arising hereunder. 

 
21. Confidentiality.  Client shall not disclose the terms of this Agreement or the financial arrangement between Client and QLER 

to any party, including the Assigned Tele-psych providers, except as compelled by legal process. Upon consent, either party 
may use the name or trademarks of the other party for marketing and promotional materials.  

 
22. Force Majeure.    QLER will not be held liable if it is prevented from carrying out its obligations hereunder due to causes 

beyond its reasonable control, including, but not limited to, network failures, power outages, any act of God, fire, natural 
disaster, accident, war, acts of war (declared or not), riots, civil commotion, strikes, terrorist acts, lockouts or any other labor 
disturbances, or act, omissions or delays in acting by any governmental authority. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written. 

  

 
QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
 
By:________________________________ 
 
Name: Gregory R. Renck, MD 
 
Title:  President 
 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
 
By:________________________________ 
 
Name: 
 
Title: 
 
 

164/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

7 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

 
EXHIBIT A 

TELE-PSYCHIATRY CONFIRMATION OF ASSIGNMENT – ONDEMAND 

 

Pursuant to the Agreement between QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A., (“QLER”) and Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 

County  (“Client”) dated as of April 28, 2023, this Exhibit confirms Client’s desired Assignment of QLER providers to perform 

Tele-Psychiatric services during the dates, and at the locations and rates defined below.  Any conflicts or inconsistencies 

between the terms of this Exhibit and the Agreement referenced above, the terms of this Exhibit shall prevail. 

 
1. Assignment Specifics: 

Start Date: Day 1 of Go-Live 
Assignment Term: TWO YEARS  
 
Start date is dependent upon facility readiness, including completion of the credentialing process. Upon the completion 
of the assignment term, unless terminated in accordance with section 8(b) of the Agreement, the Assignment will 
automatically renew for a successive 12-month term after initial 2-year term. 

 
Assignment Location(s):   
 

 1200 College Dr, Rock Springs, WY 82901 
 

2. Program Implementation and Ongoing Support Services:  
 

Included in the QLER model is a holistic program approach for program success that includes: 
 

 Partner success team for implementation of proprietary “QLER Path” implementation work plan including 
clinical workflow, IT installation and other critical elements of program success as well as project 
management oversight to ensure a successful launch of the Tele-Psychiatry service within your designated 
facilities. 

 Use of QLER partner’s telehealth platform including all video consultation, workflow routing, and reporting 
functionality 

 Uptake team that manages the virtual queue including questions, follow ups, minor IT troubleshooting and 
other items to help hospital staff and QLER maintain efficiency and quality. 

 A highly trained credentialing and licensing team that would work with your hospital’s credentialing team to 
credential the providers. 

 IT support that focuses on telehealth platform and workflow compliance to streamline each of these 
components for a successful infrastructure. 

 Quality team to ensure the highest quality service for patients and staff including chart review, OPPEs and 
other appropriate models. 

 Reporting and KPI metrics each month for your facility coordinator /designed professional and/or system 
coordinator/telehealth director. 

 
QLER charges a one-time Implementation fee of $2,500 for up to 3 individual Assignment Locations. Additional 
assignment locations are $500 per location. 
 

3. Tele-Psychiatry Scope of Work:  Client has requested QLER supply on-demand, tele-psychiatry to supplement 
Client’s own medical staff. QLER will provide consultations as ordered by Client. This includes: 

 

 QLER will credential a team of Psychiatrists and Advanced Practitioners at your facility. Provider team size 
will be determined based on hours of operations and expected consult volumes.  QLER will continually 
monitor service levels and work with the client to adjust team size as appropriate. 

165/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

8 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

 Training of all required Client personnel on forms, workflow, and technology usage required to utilize the tele-
psychiatry platform  

 Scheduled video conferences (or calls) by QLER provider team to foster a strong relationship with Client’s staff 

and build awareness of community resources available  
 

4. Clinical Protocols:  QLER will deliver the above scopes under following clinical protocols:  
  

 QLER providers will be credentialed at the facility(s) and depending on documentation methodology, may be 
granted remote access to the facility’s electronic medical record (EMR). Alternatively, QLER and Client may 
elect to utilize a secure fax system for the transmission of patient records pre and post consult.  

 QLER providers will fully document each consult in the Client’s EHR/EMR upon completion of patient 
consultation; or alternatively, QLER Tele-psych providers will send their consult documentation to Client via a 
secure fax system.  

 QLER providers will make treatment, medication and/or follow-up recommendation to onsite ED or attending 
Physician 

 When needed, QLER providers will be available by phone or the telemedicine platform to answer questions 
or provide guidance to the primary care team   

 
5. Clinical Setting:  QLER will provide OnDemand services within the Emergency Department, Med-Surg and Inpatient 

Floors*.  
*On Demand services apply to inpatient floors unless QLER is specifically contracted and scheduled to provide daily 
rounding to a facility’s inpatient unit.  

 
6. Schedule:   QLER’s Tele-psych providers will be available to see patient consults via telehealth platform twenty-four 

(24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week 
 

7. Pricing: 

 Pricing annually is $102,600. which includes all of the components of program implementation listed above 
as well as up to 30 consults per month.  Each additional patient consult over 30 in a month, will be invoiced 
at $285 per consult. 

 At the conclusion of each calendar month, QLER will send client a monthly invoice based on 1/12 ($8,550 of 
the annual contract plus any additional consults in excess of the 30 monthly consults that are included in the 
annual price.   

 
8. Additional Terms 

 QLER invoices 1 time per midnight per patient.  For example, if QLER consults on a patient at 1PM and is 
then called upon at 7PM to provide additional consultation for that same patient, there will only be 1 charge 
for those consultations. Excessive follow up consultations for the same patient on the same day may incur an 
additional charge. If a follow up consultation for a patient occurs after midnight, then the follow up 
consultation would be invoiced separately because it occurred on a separate day.  

 QLER’s telehealth platform provides access to Interpreter Services. American Sign Language and other 
foreign language interpretation provided via video is $2.25/min.  Audio only interpretation is $1.50/min. 
Interpreter charges are only incurred if the service is utilized.  

 If Client terminates this Assignment in accordance with the Agreement, prior to the end of the then current 
annual term; client agrees to pay the balance of the remaining, unbilled months of the annual term.   

 At the conclusion of the initial twelve-month period, scheduled efforts may be adjusted upon the mutual 
agreement of the parties.   

 Following the initial one-year assignment term, annual pricing and Consult Rate is subject to a 3% annual 
increase.  

 Any conflicts or inconsistencies between the terms of this Exhibit and the Agreement referenced above, the 
terms of this Exhibit shall prevail. 
 
 

166/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

9 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

 
 
The Client has read, understands, and agrees to the terms and conditions set forth in this Confirmation.  Please sign below and 
email to QLER (email address: jkohlmeir@qlersolutions.com). 
 
QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.   Accepted by: Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
    
Signature:       Signature:        
 
Print Name:  Gregory R. Renck   Print name: 
 
Title:       Title: 
 
Date:       Date: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

167/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

10 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

 
EXHIBIT B 

TELEPSYCHIATRY CONFIRMATION OF ASSIGNMENT – SCHEDULED CLINIC 

 

 

Pursuant to the Agreement QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. and Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County dated as of 

April 28, 2023, this letter confirms Client’s order for the assignment of QLER clinical team to perform Tele-Psychiatric services 

during the following dates and at the locations and rates defined below: 

 
1. Assignment Specifics: 

Start Date: Day 1 of Go-Live 
Assignment Term: TWO YEARS  
 
Start date is dependent upon facility readiness, including completion of the credentialing process. Upon the completion 
of the assignment term, unless terminated in accordance with section 8 of this agreement, the confirmation will 
automatically renew for a successive 12-month term after the initial 2-year assignment. 

 
Assignment Location(s):   

 Medical Office Building – 1180 College Drive, Rock Springs, WY 82901 
 

2. Scope of Work:  Client has requested QLER supply scheduled, tele-psychiatry to supplement Client’s own medical 
staff. QLER will provide consultations in the clinic(s) as requested by Client. In addition to supplying the board-certified 
or board eligible psychiatrists or Nurse Practitioners with proper licensing, QLER will also provide:  

  

 Training of all required Client personnel on forms, workflow, and technology usage required to utilize the tele-
psychiatry platform  

 Monthly reporting showing details on consultations conducted by QLER Tele-Psychiatrists  

 Scheduled meetings (or calls) by QLER psychiatric team to foster strong relationships to Client’s staff and 
build awareness of community resources available  

  
3. Clinical Protocols:  QLER will deliver the above scopes under following clinical protocols:  

  

 QLER psychiatrists will be credentialed at the facility(s) and granted remote access to the facility’s electronic 
medical record (EMR)  

 QLER psychiatrists will fully document each consult in the EHR/EMR or documentation methodology of the 
clinic. 

 QLER psychiatrists will make treatment, medication and/or follow-up recommendation to onsite primary care 
physician or facility’s medical director  

 When needed, QLER psychiatrists will be available by phone or telemedicine to answer questions or provide 
guidance to the primary care team   

  
4. Schedule of Work:  TelePsych service hours will coincide with Client’s hours of:   

 Office hours are 8a – 6p MT; To Be Determined the actual schedule for the contracted hours 

 While a more detailed schedule may need to be worked out between the parties, it is generally understood 
that the schedule will be for 4 GUARUNTEED HOURS/WEEK.  Physician hours per week allocated across 
the locations identified as “Assignment Locations”.   

 
5. Hourly Rate:   Standard, Clinic based Tele-psychiatry   

a. $285 / per Scheduled Physician Hour 
 
 

168/169



Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
  Tele-psychiatry Agreement 

11 

 

 

Confidential – FOR CLIENT USE ONLY 
 
©2023 QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.  
 Use and distribution prohibited except through written agreement with QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. 
Trademarks used in this document are registered or unregistered trademarks of QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A. or its licensors. 

 
 
 

6. Scheduled Contracted Volume and Fees: 

Volumes and fees are documented to ensure both parties have a mutual understanding of the financial value of the 
agreement. Additionally, these details inform QLER’s staffing decisions to ensure it can meet the expected demands of 
the assignment.   

 
 
  
 
 

7. Additional Terms  

 QLER will submit a monthly invoice based upon the greater of either the scheduled physician hours 
multiplied by the Hourly Rate or actual hours worked multiplied by the Hourly Rate 

 Scheduled Physician hours will include, but are not limited to, patient consultations, clinical and 
administrative documentation, communication with client staff and patient family members as needed.  

 Ad hoc hours required in excess of the scheduled physician hours will be invoiced at the Hourly Rate.   

 QLER’s telehealth platform provides access to Interpreter Services. American Sign Language and other 
foreign language interpretation provided via video is $2.25/min.  Audio only interpretation is $1.50/min. 
Interpreter charges are only incurred if the service is utilized.  

 Client is responsible for managing patient scheduling and ensuring patients are present during the agreed 
upon physician scheduled hours. QLER will attempt to accommodate late patients, however, there are no 
guarantees that late patients will be seen.   

 Patient “No-shows”, as well as cancelations with less than 48 hours’ notice, will incur charges associated 
with the scheduled physician hours regardless of whether or not patients were seen. 

 If Client terminates this Assignment in accordance with the Agreement, prior to the end of the then current 
annual term; client agrees to pay the balance of the remaining, unbilled months of the annual term.   

 At the conclusion of the initial twelve-month period, scheduled efforts may be adjusted upon the mutual 
agreement of the parties.   

 Following the initial one-year assignment term, Hourly Rate is subject to a 3% annual increase. 

 Any conflicts or inconsistencies between the terms of this Exhibit and the Agreement referenced above, the 
terms of this Exhibit shall prevail. 
 

 
The Client has read, understands, and agrees to the terms and conditions set forth in this Confirmation.  Please sign below and 
email to QLER (email address: jkohlmeir@qlersolutions.com). 
 
 
QLER Physician Medical Group, P.A.   Accepted by: Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
 
Signature:       Signature:        
 
Print Name:  Gregory R. Renck   Print name: 
 
Title:       Title:        
 
Date:       Date: 
 
 
 

METRIC WEEKLY ANNUALIZED 

Contracted Clinic Hours  4 208 

Contracted Fees based on Schedule  $ 1,140 $59,280 

169/169


	Agenda - May 3 2023 Mtg
	Mission and Vision
	Minutes
	Board Meeting Guidelines
	EMPLOYEE POLICIES - DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE AND TESTING POLICY with Substance Abuse Checklist-Changes May 2023
	SUBSTANCE ABUSE POLICY - Attachment A
	Sentinel Event Policy-Draft Clean for May 2023
	Sentinel Event Policy-Draft-Changes for May 2023
	Board Policy – CEO Evaluation
	Orientation Memo - Notice of Award for Oncology Suite Richardson
	NOTICE OF AWARD
	Proctors for Robot, Onboarding Packet
	General Surgery Privilege Form
	Quality Committee
	Finance &amp; Audit Committee
	Capital Expenditure Request FY 23 39 M5 UCS Blade Server
	Capital Expenditure Request FY 23 48 C Arm
	I.S. Report
	Finance &amp; Audit Committee Meeting Information
	Building and Grounds Chair Report April 2023 Marty Kelsey
	Building and Grounds Comm Minutes April 2023 Jim Horan
	Foundation Board
	Compliance Committee
	Governance Committee
	Check List for QLER Telepsychiatry Agreement
	QLER Telepsych Agreement - MSA and Exhibits

